

Out-of-equilibrium dynamical mean-field equations for the perceptron model

Elisabeth Agoritsas, Giulio Biroli, Pierfrancesco Urbani, Francesco Zamponi

▶ To cite this version:

Elisabeth Agoritsas, Giulio Biroli, Pierfrancesco Urbani, Francesco Zamponi. Out-of-equilibrium dynamical mean-field equations for the perceptron model. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 2018, 51, pp.085002. 10.1088/1751-8121/aaa68d. cea-01682940

HAL Id: cea-01682940 https://cea.hal.science/cea-01682940

Submitted on 12 Jan 2018

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Out-of-equilibrium dynamical mean-field equations for the perceptron model

Elisabeth Agoritsas, ¹ Giulio Biroli, ² Pierfrancesco Urbani, ³ and Francesco Zamponi ¹

¹Laboratoire de physique théorique, Département de physique de l'ENS, École normale supérieure, PSL Research University, Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ. Paris 06, CNRS, 75005 Paris, France ²Institut de physique théorique, Université Paris Saclay, CEA, CNRS, F-91191 Gif-sur-Yvette, France ³Institut de physique théorique, Université Paris Saclay, CNRS, CEA, F-91191 Gif-sur-Yvette, France

Perceptrons are the building blocks of many theoretical approaches to a wide range of complex systems, ranging from neural networks and deep learning machines, to constraint satisfaction problems, glasses and ecosystems. Despite their applicability and importance, a detailed study of their Langevin dynamics has never been performed yet. Here we derive the mean-field dynamical equations that describe the continuous random perceptron in the thermodynamic limit, in a very general setting with arbitrary noise and friction kernels, not necessarily related by equilibrium relations. We derive the equations in two ways: via a *dynamical cavity method*, and via a path-integral approach in its supersymmetric formulation. The end point of both approaches is the reduction of the dynamics of the system to an effective stochastic process for a representative dynamical variable. Because the perceptron is formally very close to a system of interacting particles in a high dimensional space, the methods we develop here can be transferred to the study of liquid and glasses in high dimensions. Potentially interesting applications are the study of the glass transition in active matter, the study of the dynamics around the jamming transition, and the calculation of rheological properties in driven systems.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
II. The continuous random perceptron model and its dynamics	3
III. Derivation of the dynamical mean field equations through the cavity method	4
A. Perturbations and linear response	5
B. Derivation of the self-consistent process for the dynamics: the dynamical cavity method	6
C. Initial condition for the self-consistent process: the static cavity method	9
D. Summary: the single-variable effective stochastic process	12
E. Dynamical equations for the correlation and response functions	13
F. The equilibrium case	15
IV. Derivation of the dynamical mean-field equations through path-integral and supersymmetry	16
A. SUSY dynamical action and its large- N saddle point	16
1. Introducing replicas for the initial condition	17
2. SUSY formulation	18
3. Saddle-point equation	19
B. Self-consistent effective stochastic process	21
1. Structure of the replica-SUSY correlators	21
2. Structure of the effective action	21
3. Effective process	22
C. Dynamical equations for the correlation and response functions	23
V. Conclusions	25
Acknowledgments	26
References	26

I. INTRODUCTION

A large class of statistical systems, *i.e.* systems made up of a large number of degrees of freedom, display a complex behaviour because their dynamical evolution takes place in a very rough and high dimensional energy landscape full of minima, maxima and saddles. The prototype of such systems are glasses. At the mean-field level, a dynamical theory of glass dynamics has been developed, both in equilibrium and out-of-equilibrium [1–3]. This theory has been extremely successful, having been applied to equilibrium dynamics [4–7], out-of-equilibrium dynamics in the aging [8, 9] and driven [10] regimes, and in presence of particle self-propulsion as a model for active matter [11]. A general picture of how the rough energy landscape influences the dynamics (called the "Random First Order Transition", or RFOT, picture) has emerged from these studies [5–7, 12]: this picture is exact in the mean-field limit, and it has been the source of a lot of inspiration for the study of systems outside mean-field [13–15].

Despite these successes, several problems remain open. The theory has been developed using mainly a class of toy models, the so-called "spherical *p*-spin glass models", whose dynamical equations also correspond to the so-called schematic limit of the Mode-Coupling Theory equations [3, 16]. While these models share most of the basic phenomelonogy of real glasses [6, 7], it remains highly desirable to develop a theory specific to particle systems. This has been achieved recently by considering the infinite-dimensional limit [17–20], but only in the special case of equilibrium dynamics. The extension to the out-of-equilibrium regime is yet to be done but it would have potentially very interesting applications, for example: (*i*) the study of the glass transition in active matter, where the behaviour of the glass transition line is seen to depend on the details of the interaction potential [21, 22]; (*iii*) the dynamical scaling in the vicinity of the jamming transition [23–26]; (*iii*) the dynamical behaviour in rheological experiments, where several interesting phenomena such as plasticity, yielding, and non-Newtonian flow curves appear [27]. These phenomena cannot be fully captured by the simplest *p*-spin glass models. Extensions of the Mode-Coupling Theory, which, as said above, in the schematic limit correspond to the *p*-spin dynamics, to out-of-equilibrium situations have been obtained. These extensions obtained partial successes in the flow [28, 29], active [30], and aging [31] regimes, but failed in other cases [32], calling for alternative approaches.

While our ultimate goal is the study of particle systems, here we take a first step by studying the dynamics of a prototype model, called the "spherical random perceptron", which is somehow intermediate between spherical *p*-spin glasses and particle systems. This model shares most of the basic phenomenology of *p*-spin glasses (in particular the RFOT phenomenology), but it also displays additional interesting features that characterise particle systems, such as a Gardner and a jamming transition [33–35]. Perceptron models are also interesting in themselves. They have been introduced by Rosenblatt in Ref. [36] and have the privilege to appear *mutatis mutandis* as the building blocks of many theories in a broad range of different fields of science. The *perceptron cornucopia* started in the fields of machine learning and neural networks. In this case the perceptron problem is the simplest classification task: given a set of inputs or patterns and a set of associated outputs, one wants to find the *synaptic weights* such that the input patterns are correctly classified as the prescribed outputs. This represents the simplest version of a learning machine [37]. More complicated constructions can be developed as soon as different perceptrons are glued together in a feed-forward network which is the simplest versions of modern deep neural networks [38]. In the end, such multilayer generalisations are different ways to take into account non linearities in the classification tasks.

This classification task can also be seen as a constraint satisfaction problem. Indeed each input pattern should match the corresponding output signal. Therefore, one should determine a configuration of the synaptic weight which satisfies simultaneously all the input-output constraints. In this setting, the *capacity* of the perceptron is defined as the total volume, in the phase space of the synaptic weights, that are compatible with the constraints. The *random* perceptron is the case in which the inputs and the associated outputs are taken as uncorrelated random variables; in this case the problem is not a machine learning problem, because even if all the input-output relation are correctly classified, it is impossible to generalise to new input-output patterns. Still, the problem is well-defined as a constraint satisfaction problem, and the computation of the associated capacity has been performed in the pioneering works of Derrida and Gardner [39, 40].

Very recently, in the constraint satisfaction setting, the perceptron has received a renewed interest. Indeed, using continuous spherical variables, one can build a continuous non-convex constraint satisfaction problem, for which the limit of zero capacity corresponds to the satisfiability/unsatisfiability (SAT/UNSAT) threshold where the volume of solutions for the compatible synaptic weights shrinks continuously to zero. This SAT/UNSAT transition is analogous to the jamming transition of hard-sphere glasses in very high dimensions [33–35], being characterised by the very same critical exponents of amorphous packings of hard spheres [41]. Therefore, the perceptron is the simplest toy model that contains the universal mean-field physics of glasses and jamming. Finally, variants of this model have appeared recently to study models of ecosystems: in this case the limit of zero capacity represents the point where the ecosystems reach a stationary equilibrium state [42].

Despite this wide range of applications, the dynamics of the perceptron has never been studied in details. In this work we study the Langevin dynamics of the spherical random perceptron, namely a simple stochastic gradient descent dynamics for the perceptron degrees of freedom, with an additional noise term (see Sec. II for details). The dynamical mean-field equations (DMFE) that we derive are very general: they include general non-local friction terms, general types of colored stochastic noise, and external driving forces, thus allowing for the study of all possible equilibrium and out-of-equilibrium dynamical regimes. As mentioned above, this study paves the way to derive and solve the out-of-equilibrium DMFE of particles in high dimensions, which, however, we leave for future work.

For pedagogical reasons, and for the sake of future generalisations, we present two distinct derivations of the DMFE: in the first one we use a *dynamical cavity approach* [43] that is extremely powerful and intuitive (Sec. III). In the second one we make use of the *Martin-Siggia-Rose-Janssen-De Dominicis formalism* [44–46] for path integrals in its supersymmetric version [2, 47] (Sec. IV) and we show that both approaches lead to the same results. Through both approaches, the mean-field perceptron dynamics can be reduced to a one-dimensional effective stochastic process for a representative single synaptic weight, with a friction and noise terms that must be determined self-consistently: we call this a DMFE, in explicit analogy with the dynamical mean-field theory (DMFT) of strongly correlated electrons [48]. Solving the DMFE cannot be performed analytically even in very simple cases: it requires a numerical analysis which, as discussed in the conclusions (Sec. V), we leave for future work.

II. THE CONTINUOUS RANDOM PERCEPTRON MODEL AND ITS DYNAMICS

The random perceptron model that we study in this work is defined in the following way. Consider a N-dimensional vector $\mathbf{X} = \{x_i\}_{i=1\cdots N}$ constrained to live on the N dimensional hypersphere such that $\mathbf{X} \cdot \mathbf{X} = \sum_{i=1}^N x_i^2 = N$, where the dot sign indicates the scalar product in \mathbb{R}^N . The vector \mathbf{X} has the interpretation of the set of synaptic weights x_i – they are the degrees of freedom of the perceptron – and in what follows we will focus on the 'thermodynamic' limit of large N.

The Hamiltonian of the model (also called 'loss function' in machine learning) is

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X}) = \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} v(h_{\mu}) , \qquad h_{\mu} = r_{\mu} - w , \qquad r_{\mu} = \mathbf{F}^{\mu} \cdot \mathbf{X} . \tag{1}$$

The vectors \mathbf{F}^{μ} have components F_i^{μ} which are independent Gaussian variables of zero mean and variance 1/N. The index μ runs from 1 to $M=\alpha N$, the ratio $\alpha=M/N$ being thus fixed in the limit of large N. Therefore each vector \mathbf{F}^{μ} represents a random pattern of quenched disorder, to which the system has to accommodate, *i.e.* a constraint. In the following, the statistical average over this disorder will be denoted with an overbar, as for instance in $\overline{F_i^{\mu}F_i^{\nu}}=\frac{1}{N}\delta_{ij}\delta_{\mu\nu}$.

The dynamical mean-field equations can be derived for arbitrary potentials v(h). In the case of the continuous perceptron, and for models related to hard-spheres, a particular relevant choice corresponds to v(h) = 0 for h > 0 and v(h) > 0 for h < 0. In this way, a configuration that satisfies all the constraints $h_{\mu} > 0$ has zero energy, and a configuration for which there is at least one unsatisfied constraint has positive energy. Thus, working at zero temperature one can select configurations violating the minimum number of constraints. A typical choice is the harmonic soft potential for which $v(h) = h^2\theta(-h)/2$ with $\theta(h)$ the Heaviside step function. Finally, $w \in \mathbb{R}$ is a free parameter of the model. It can be used to tune the degree of non-convexity of the model, once seen from a constrained optimization point of view [35]; the non-convex regime corresponds to w < 0.

Besides the machine-learning perspective, one can think of this model as describing a single point particle of coordinate \mathbf{X} moving on the surface of the N-dimensional sphere of radius \sqrt{N} . On the sphere, there are M randomly distributed quenched obstacles with coordinates $\mathbf{Y}^{\mu} = -\sqrt{N}\mathbf{F}^{\mu}$ (in such a way that $\overline{\mathbf{Y}^{\mu} \cdot \mathbf{Y}^{\mu}} = N$, so that the vectors \mathbf{Y}^{μ} are on the surface of the sphere). The distance between the particle and an obstacle is, when $h_{\mu} > 0$:

$$h_{\mu} > 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad |\mathbf{X} - \mathbf{Y}^{\mu}|^2 \sim 2N - 2\mathbf{X} \cdot \mathbf{Y}^{\mu} = 2N + 2\sqrt{N}\mathbf{X} \cdot \mathbf{F}^{\mu} > 2N + 2\sqrt{N}w ,$$
 (2)

where, therefore, $2N+2\sqrt{N}w$ is the radius of an obstacle. In analogy with soft sphere models of glasses, we say that the particle overlap with the obstacle μ whenever $h_{\mu}<0$ and therefore we call h_{μ} a gap variable.

The Langevin dynamics of this model is defined by a set of coupled stochastic equations for the synaptic weight $x_i(t)$ at time t, with i = 1, ..., N:

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' \, \Gamma_{R}(t, t') \, \dot{x}_{i}(t') = -\hat{\nu}(t) x_{i}(t) - \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X}(t))}{\partial x_{i}(t)} + \eta_{i}(t) \,, \qquad \left\langle \eta_{i}(t) \eta_{j}(t') \right\rangle = \delta_{ij} \Gamma_{C}(t, t') \,, \tag{3}$$

where \dot{x}_i denotes as usual a time derivative, $\hat{\nu}(t)$ is a Lagrange multiplier that is used to impose the spherical constraint $|\mathbf{X}(t)|^2 = N$ at each time t, and is usually self-consistently computed at the end of the computation. $\eta_i(t)$ is a Gaussian colored noise of zero mean, and the brackets denote the statistical average over this noise. The kernel $\Gamma_R(t,t')$ represents a friction term while $\Gamma_C(t,t')$ provides the covariance function of a general correlated Gaussian noise; at equilibrium they are related by the fluctuation-dissipation theorem, but here we keep them generic in order to include the out-of-equilibrium cases.

The stochastic initial configuration of X at time t=0 is extracted randomly from an arbitrary probability distribution which samples the whole phase space; here we choose to consider the equilibrium distribution at inverse temperature β_g :

$$P_N(\mathbf{X}) = \frac{1}{Z_N(\beta_g)} \exp\left(-\beta_g \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X})\right) , \qquad Z_N(\beta_g) = \int_{\mathbb{S}_N} d\mathbf{X} \exp\left(-\beta_g \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X})\right) , \tag{4}$$

where $Z(\beta_g)$ is the partition function at inverse temperature β_g that corresponds to the integral over the sphere \mathbb{S}_N defined by the spherical constraint. We have thus three independent sources of stochasticity in the perceptron model, so we must consider three combined statistical averages: first over the initial condition $\left\{x_i(0)\right\}_{i=1,\dots,N}$ according to Eq. (4), second over the colored noise $\left\{\eta_i(t)\right\}_{i=1,\dots,N}$, and third over the quenched disorder $\left\{F_i^{\mu}\right\}_{i=1,\dots,N}^{\mu=1,\dots,M}$. The corresponding averages will be denoted by $\langle \cdots \rangle$ for the combined noise and initial condition – otherwise it might be written explicitly as $\langle \cdots \rangle_{\mathbf{X}(0)}$ or $\langle \cdots \rangle_{\eta}$ – and $\overline{\cdots}$ for the quenched disorder.

The resulting stochastic dynamics depends on the explicit form and properties of the two kernels Γ_R and Γ_C . Note that $\Gamma_R(t,t'>t)=0$ by causality, while $\Gamma_C(t,t')=\Gamma_C(t',t)$ by definition. We will only consider cases where these kernels are time-translational invariant, i.e. $\Gamma_R(t,t')=\Gamma_R(t-t')$ and $\Gamma_C(t,t')=\Gamma_C(t-t')$, with $\Gamma_R(t<0)=0$ and $\Gamma_C(t)=\Gamma_C(-t)$, though we will keep the generic dependence on the two times as long as possible in our derivations. Special cases are the following:

- For an equilibrium thermal bath, both $\Gamma_C(t-t')$ and $\Gamma_R(t-t')$ are time-translationally invariant. Moreover, a fluctuation-dissipation-theorem (FDT) holds [49], in the form $\Gamma_C(t) = T[\Gamma_R(t) + \Gamma_R(-t)]$ or equivalently $\Gamma_R(t) = \beta \theta(t) \Gamma_C(t)$. We emphasise that the inverse temperature of the thermal bath $\beta = 1/T$ can be different from the inverse temperature β_g of the distribution of the initial configuration. If $\beta = \beta_g$, we are considering fully equilibrium dynamics. If instead $\beta \neq \beta_g$, we are considering a system prepared in equilibrium at β_g and then instantaneously quenched at a different temperature β .
- More specifically, the equilibrium case with white noise corresponds for instance to the choice $\Gamma_C(t) = T\gamma \frac{1}{\tau} e^{-|t|/\tau}$, and then $\Gamma_R(t) = \gamma \frac{1}{\tau} e^{-t/\tau} \theta(t)$, in the limit $\tau \to 0$. One recovers in this case a regular friction term $\gamma \dot{X}_i(t)$ and a noise kernel $\Gamma_C(t,t') = 2T\gamma \delta(t-t')$.
- Standard active matter models correspond to $\Gamma_R(t) = \gamma \frac{1}{\tau} e^{-t/\tau} \theta(t)$ for $\tau \to 0$, hence a regular friction term, with a noise kernel $\Gamma_C(t) = 2T\gamma\delta(t-t') + \Gamma_a(t)$, where $\Gamma_a(t)$ describes the active part. In this case FDT is violated by construction, and the term $\Gamma_a(t)$ can be interpreted as coming from particles self-propulsion [11].
- A force constant in time, and random Gaussian for each component i, is described by the same structure as above but with $\Gamma_a(t) = f_0^2$. This corresponds to a random constant drive of the system.

We emphasise that we will consider generic kernels Γ_R and Γ_C in all the derivations that follow. We will only need to distinguish between their regular and singular parts when deriving the dynamics from the supersymmetric path-integral formulation in Sec. IV.

Given this definition of the continuous random perceptron model, our goal will be to determine which is the stochastic process that would effectively describe the large-N fluctuations of the gaps $h_{\mu}(t)$, or rather of $r_{\mu}(t) = h_{\mu}(t) + w$, as a combination of the three sources of stochasticity present in the model in the thermodynamic limit. In other words, we will derive the mean-field dynamics of a single variable, which could be either one typical synaptic weight x(t), one typical gap h(t), or one typical reduced gap r(t) = h(t) + w. The corresponding statistical average will be denoted respectively by $\langle \cdot \rangle_x, \langle \cdot \rangle_h$ or $\langle \cdot \rangle_r$, including both the average over the different histories of the effective stochastic process and over its stochastic initial condition. In Sec. III we present the derivation based on the cavity method, postponing to Sec. IV its complementary counterpart based on the supersymmetric path-integral.

III. DERIVATION OF THE DYNAMICAL MEAN FIELD EQUATIONS THROUGH THE CAVITY METHOD

The random perceptron defined in Sec. II is a fully-connected model, because the Hamiltonian (1) depends only on collective variables $h_{\mu}(t) = \mathbf{F}^{\mu} \cdot \mathbf{X}(t) - w$ which, given that the F_i^{μ} are all non-zero and of the same order, are averages over all the variables of the model. The large-N dynamics of such fully-connected models can usually be solved using the *dynamical* cavity method, that is well described in Ref. [43]. The general idea can be summarised as follows. Consider a dynamical system of N fully-connected variables $\{x_i(t)\}$ – such as the time-dependent synaptic weights of the perceptron – with $i=1,\ldots,N$.

- 1. Write down the coupled dynamics and initial condition of the N variables, which actually define the model under consideration.
- 2. Add a new dynamical variable $x_0(t)$, coupled in the same way to the initial N variables. The new variable will affect both the initial condition of the dynamics and the dynamical evolution itself.
- 3. Because the model is fully-connected, the coupling between this new variable and all the others is small in the thermodynamic limit $N \to \infty$, and it can thus be treated by perturbation theory.
- 4. Treating perturbatively the effect of the new variable both on the initial condition and on the dynamics, one can write a self-consistent effective dynamical process for the new variable.

5. Because none of the N+1 variables is special, the effective dynamical process for $x_0(t)$ can be promoted to the effective process characterising a typical variable x(t), *i.e.* to the mean-field dynamics of the model.

This strategy is the dynamical counterpart of a more standard and widespread *static* cavity method, that was introduced in the context of spin glasses [43] and then fruitfully applied to constraint satisfaction and inference problems [50–53]. It relies on the fact that the large-N limit of fully-connected models can be described by self-consistent mean-field equations.

Thereafter, given some preliminary definitions (Sec. III A), we first use the dynamical cavity method to derive the dynamics of the effective stochastic process (Sec. III B), and second we adapt a static cavity method to determine its corresponding initial condition (Sec. III C). In both steps, we use the fact that in the large-N limit, having $N\pm 1$ variables and $M\pm 1$ constraints (with $M=\alpha N$) can be treated self-consistently by perturbation theory. These findings are summarised in Sec. III D, providing a shortcut for the reader. The corresponding evolution equations for the correlation and response functions are derived in Sec. III E. Finally, we discuss the specific case of equilibrium, where the effective single-variable stochastic process simplies further thanks to the FDT relation, in Sec. III F.

A. Perturbations and linear response

We consider a system with N variables $x_i(t)$ (i = 1, ..., N). Using the explicit form of the Hamiltonian (1), we start by rewriting their corresponding Langevin equations (3):

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X}(t))}{\partial x_i(t)} = \sum_{\mu=1}^M F_i^{\mu} v' \left(h_{\mu}(t) \right) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \int_0^t \mathrm{d}t' \, \Gamma_R(t, t') \, \dot{x}_i(t') = -\hat{\nu}(t) x_i(t) + \eta_i(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^M F_i^{\mu} v' \left(h_{\mu}(t) \right) . \tag{5}$$

As a preliminary step, we discuss two type of dynamic or static external fields that can be added to the perceptron model. Here and in the following we consider these fields as infinitesimal, *i.e.* we focus on the linear response regime. First, one can add a magnetic field H_i on variable i. In the static version, this corresponds to changing the Hamiltonian as follows:

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X}) \to \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X}) - \sum_{i=1}^{N} H_i x_i$$
 (6)

In the dynamic version, it corresponds to changing the Langevin equation (5) as follows:

$$\int_0^t dt' \, \Gamma_R(t, t') \, \dot{x}_i(t') = -\hat{\nu}(t) x_i(t) + \eta_i(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^M F_i^{\mu} \, v' \left(h_{\mu}(t) \right) + H_i(t) \,. \tag{7}$$

A different external field in which we will be interested amounts to adding a shift to a gap μ , corresponding to $h_{\mu} \to h_{\mu} + P_{\mu}$. In the static version, this amounts to replacing

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X}) \to \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} v \left(h_{\mu} + P_{\mu} \right) \simeq \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X}) + \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} v' \left(h_{\mu} \right) P_{\mu} . \tag{8}$$

In the dynamic version, the Langevin equation (5) is modified as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' \, \Gamma_{R}(t,t') \, \dot{x}_{i}(t') = -\hat{\nu}(t) x_{i}(t) + \eta_{i}(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{i}^{\mu} \, v' \left(h_{\mu}(t) + P_{\mu}(t) \right) \\
\simeq -\hat{\nu}(t) x_{i}(t) + \eta_{i}(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{i}^{\mu} \, v' \left(h_{\mu}(t) \right) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{i}^{\mu} \, v'' \left(h_{\mu}(t) \right) P_{\mu}(t) .$$
(9)

Note that adding a single dynamic field $P_{\mu}(t)$ on a given gap μ is equivalent to adding a field $H_i(t) = -F_i^{\mu} v'' \left(h_{\mu}(t)\right) P_{\mu}(t)$ on each of the variables $i = 1, \ldots, N$. This leads to the following useful identity between dynamical responses: for any observable $\mathcal{O}(t)$, one has

$$\delta \mathcal{O}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} dt' \frac{\delta \mathcal{O}(t)}{\delta P_{\mu}(t')} P_{\mu}(t') = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{t} dt' \frac{\delta \mathcal{O}(t)}{\delta H_{i}(t')} F_{i}^{\mu} v'' \left(h_{\mu}(t')\right) P_{\mu}(t)$$

$$\Rightarrow \frac{\delta \mathcal{O}(t)}{\delta P_{\mu}(t')} = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\delta \mathcal{O}(t)}{\delta H_{i}(t')} F_{i}^{\mu} v'' \left(h_{\mu}(t')\right) . \tag{10}$$

B. Derivation of the self-consistent process for the dynamics: the dynamical cavity method

To the system of N variables $i=1,\ldots,N$, we now add a new dynamical variable $x_0(t)$, along with M new quenched variables F_0^μ ($\mu=1,\ldots,M$) and the additional noise $\eta_0(t)$, generalising the model to N+1 degrees of freedom. We emphasise that from now on, we will denote $x_i(t)$ only the variables for i>0 and treat $x_0(t)$ separately, except if indicated otherwise. The updated gap variables $h_\mu(t)$, which drive the dynamics via the potential v(h), can then be decomposed as

$$h_{\mu}(t) = h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t) + P_{\mu}(t)$$
, with $h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} F_{i}^{\mu} x_{i}(t) - w$ and $P_{\mu}(t) = F_{0}^{\mu} x_{0}(t)$. (11)

From the point of view of the original N variables, therefore, the introduction of the new variable $x_0(t)$ corresponds to a perturbation $P_{\mu}(t) = F_0^{\mu}x_0(t)$ on the gap h_{μ} . We emphasise that by definition the gaps $h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t)$ are thus unperturbed variables uncorrelated to F_0^{μ} . Because the quenched disorder fluctuates in distribution according to $(F_0^{\mu})^2 \simeq 1/N$, and the variable x_0 is itself of order 1 when $N \to \infty$, one has $P_{\mu} \propto 1/\sqrt{N}$, so that we can treat it perturbatively in linear response. Note that the Lagrange multiplier $\hat{\nu}(t)$ now enforces the spherical constraint on the N+1 components of $\mathbf{X}(t)$ as $\mathbf{X}(t)^2 = N+1$, but it will be self-consistently fixed at the end of the computation, so for the time being we leave it as a time-dependent unknown parameter.

The perturbation P_{μ} appears both as a dynamic perturbation in the Langevin equation, and as a static perturbation in the initial condition. Therefore, one can write in perturbation theory at large N that

$$x_i(t) = x_i^{(0)}(t) + \delta x_i^{(\text{dyn})}(t) + \delta x_i^{(\text{in})}(t)$$
, (12)

where $x_i^{(0)}(t)$ is the solution of the Langevin equations of the N variables in absence of any perturbation, with a stochastic initial condition distributed according to Eq. (4), and the large-N perturbative correction to $x_i^{(0)}(t)$ can be decomposed in two parts. First, $\delta x_i^{(\mathrm{dyn})}(t)$ is produced by the fact that the new variable x_0 perturbs the dynamical equation through the external field $P_{\mu}(t)$. Secondly, $\delta x_i^{(\mathrm{in})}(t)$ follows from the fact that the initial condition for the variables x_i is also changed by the presence of the variable x_0 , trough a static field P_{μ} . Formally, these perturbations can be written using functional derivatives:

$$\delta x_i^{(\text{dyn})}(t) = \sum_{\mu=1}^M \int_0^t dt' \, P_\mu(t') \left[\frac{\delta}{\delta P_\mu(t')} x_i(t) \middle|_{P_\mu(t) = 0} \right] = \sum_{\mu=1}^M \int_0^t dt' \, \frac{\delta x_i^{(0)}(t)}{\delta P_\mu(t')} \, P_\mu(t') \,, \tag{13}$$

$$\delta x_i^{(\text{in})}(t) = \sum_{\mu=1}^M P_\mu(0) \left[\frac{\delta}{\delta P_\mu(0)} x_i(t) \middle|_{P_\mu(t) = 0} \right] = \sum_{\mu=1}^M \frac{\delta x_i^{(0)}(t)}{\delta P_\mu(0)} P_\mu(0) , \qquad (14)$$

where we have introduced the slightly abusive notations $\frac{\delta x_i^{(0)}(t)}{\delta P_\mu(t')}$ and $\frac{\delta x_i^{(0)}(t)}{\delta P_\mu(0)}$ to denote the functional derivatives evaluated at $P_\mu(t)=0$, *i.e.* on the unperturbed dynamics for the $\{x_i(t)\}$. Note that $\delta x_i^{(\text{dyn})}(0)=0$ because of its time-integral, and thus at time t=0 the only corrections to $x_i(t)$ come from the modification of the Boltzmann measure, as it should be. We emphasise that in all the derivations that follows, there will always be *a priori* two such corrections to take into account, first in the dynamics itself and secondly propagating from the initial condition.

Let us now consider the dynamical equation for the new variable x_0 itself, and apply a similar perturbative treatment. The variable x_0 follows the same full Langevin dynamics, Eq. (5), as the others variables x_i , hence we have that

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' \, \Gamma_{R}(t,t') \, \dot{x}_{0}(t') \stackrel{(5)}{=} -\hat{\nu}(t) x_{0}(t) + \eta_{0}(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{0}^{\mu} v' \left(h_{\mu}(t) \right) \\
\stackrel{(11)}{\simeq} -\hat{\nu}(t) x_{0}(t) + \eta_{0}(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{0}^{\mu} v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t) \right) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} \left(F_{0}^{\mu} \right)^{2} v'' \left(h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t) \right) x_{0}(t) .$$
(15)

Since the $(F_0^\mu)^2$ are i.i.d. variables with average equal to 1/N the third term in Eq. (15) radically simplifies in the thermodynamic limit $N \to \infty$ (and hence $M = \alpha N \to \infty$). Its distribution concentrates around its average value up to fluctuations of the order $1/\sqrt{N}$:

$$\sum_{\mu=1}^{M} \left(F_0^{\mu} \right)^2 v'' \left(h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t) \right) x_0(t) \stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\to} \alpha \overline{\langle v''(h(t)) \rangle}_h x_0(t) , \tag{16}$$

where $\overline{\langle \cdot \cdot \cdot \rangle}_h$ is the first occurrence of the statistical average over the effective stochastic process, that we are aiming to characterise, for the typical gap h(t). Note that also in the case of the effective process the average is separated into an average over thermal noise and initial condition, and an average over disorder. The third term in Eq. (15) can thus be integrated into the Lagrange multiplier, which gives

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' \, \Gamma_{R}(t, t') \dot{x}_{0}(t') = -\tilde{\nu}(t) x_{0}(t) + \eta_{0}(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{0}^{\mu} v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t) \right) ,$$

$$\tilde{\nu}(t) = \hat{\nu}(t) + \alpha \overline{\langle v''(h(t)) \rangle_{h}} .$$
(17)

The next step is to expand the gaps $h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t)$ appearing in Eq. (17) by making use of the expansion in Eq. (12). We introduce the unperturbed gaps $h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)$, that depend only on the N original spins and evolve in absence of the new spin, by

$$h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} F_{i}^{\mu} x_{i}^{(0)}(t) - w \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t) = h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t) + \delta h_{\mu}^{(\text{dyn})}(t) + \delta h_{\mu}^{(\text{in})}(t) , \tag{18}$$

where the perturbations have the same structure as in Eqs. (13)-(14), for instance

$$\delta h_{\mu}^{(\text{dyn})}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} F_{i}^{\mu} \delta x_{i}^{(\text{dyn})}(t) = \sum_{\nu=1}^{M} \int_{0}^{t} dt' \, \frac{\delta h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)}{\delta P_{\nu}(t')} \, P_{\nu}(t') \,. \tag{19}$$

Similarly, we can write

$$v'\left(h_{\mu}^{(N)}(t)\right) = v'\left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)\right) + \sum_{\nu=1}^{M} \frac{\delta v'\left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)\right)}{\delta P_{\nu}(0)} P_{\nu}(0) + \sum_{\nu=1}^{M} \int_{0}^{t} dt' \frac{\delta v'\left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)\right)}{\delta P_{\nu}(t')} P_{\nu}(t') . \tag{20}$$

Plugging this expansion into Eq. (17), and recalling that $P_{\nu} = F_0^{\nu} x_0$, we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' \Gamma_{R}(t, t') \dot{x}_{0}(t') \simeq -\tilde{\nu}(t) x_{0}(t) + \eta_{0}(t) \underbrace{-\sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{0}^{\mu} v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)\right)}_{(I)} \underbrace{-\sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{0}^{\mu} \sum_{\nu=1}^{M} \frac{\delta v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)\right)}{\delta P_{\nu}(0)} F_{0}^{\nu} x_{0}(0)}_{(II)} \\
\underbrace{-\sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_{0}^{\mu} \sum_{\nu=1}^{M} \int_{0}^{t} dt' \frac{\delta v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)\right)}{\delta P_{\nu}(t')} F_{0}^{\nu} x_{0}(t')}_{(III)}.$$
(21)

We will now successively examine the contributions (I)-(II)-(III) in the thermodynamic limit; to guide the intuition regarding the effective stochastic process we are aiming at, (I) will correspond to its effective noise, (II) to its correlation memory kernel, and

(III) to its response memory kernel. We start by (III). In order to evaluate this term one has to take into account that $\frac{\delta v'\left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)\right)}{\delta P_{\nu}(t')}$ in fully connected models, the response of a variable μ to a field on variable ν is generically of the order one for $\mu=\nu$ and of the order 1/N for $\mu\neq\nu$ (this is because responses are related to correlations, and correlations of distinct variable vanish as 1/N in fully connected models). In consequence, in the large-N limit, only the diagonal terms $\mu=\nu$ in (III) survive, and the distribution of (III) concentrates around its average up to fluctuations of the order 1/N (as it can be checked computing its variance):

(III)
$$\stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\to} \int_0^t dt' M_R(t, t') x_0(t') , \quad \text{with } M_R(t, t') \equiv -\alpha \frac{\delta \overline{\langle v'(h(t)) \rangle}_h}{\delta P(t')} ,$$
 (22)

where $M_R(t,t')$ is the two-time response memory kernel. Here the average must be intended as the average over the dynamical history of the variables $\{x_i\}_{i=1,\dots,N}$ when the variable x_0 is completely absent, and it is then replaced by an average over the effective process – that we still have to characterise. Following the same reasoning, the term (II) in Eq. (21) simplifies in the large N limit:

$$(\text{II}) \stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\to} \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(t, 0) x_0(0) \tag{23}$$

where, by taking the derivative over the static field $P_{\mu}(0)$ associated with the initial condition, Eq. (4), one obtains the connected correlation memory kernel $M_C^{(c)}(t,t')$, defined as the thermodynamic limit of the connected two-time second cumulant of the force v':

$$\frac{1}{N} \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} \left[\overline{\left\langle v'(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t))v'(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t')) \right\rangle} - \overline{\left\langle v'(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t)) \right\rangle \left\langle v'(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t')) \right\rangle} \right] \\
\stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\to} \alpha \left[\overline{\left\langle v'(h(t))v'(h(t')) \right\rangle_h} - \overline{\left\langle v'(h(t)) \right\rangle_h \left\langle v'(h(t')) \right\rangle_h} \right] \equiv M_C^{(c)}(t, t')$$
(24)

that once again should in the end be computed as an average over the effective process. Finally, the term (I) in Eq. (21) can be combined with the original noise $\eta_0(t)$ in order to define the effective noise

$$\Xi(t) = \eta_0(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_0^{\mu} v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t) \right) . \tag{25}$$

Combining Eqs. (17), (22), (23) and (25), the large-N Langevin equation for the new variable $x_0(t)$ can be rewritten as

$$\int_0^t dt' \, \Gamma_R(t, t') \dot{x}_0(t') = -\tilde{\nu}(t) x_0(t) + \Xi(t) + \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(t, 0) x_0(0) + \int_0^t dt' M_R(t, t') x_0(t') \,. \tag{26}$$

To conclude the derivation, we need to specify the correlation function of the effective noise $\Xi(t)$. First, the dynamics of $x_i^{(0)}(t)$ is independent of the additional noise $\eta_0(t)$ and therefore the two contributions to $\Xi(t)$ are statistically independent. Then, one can split $\Xi(t)$ in fluctuations due to quenched disorder and due to noise and initial conditions. Indeed, let us decompose $\Xi(t)$, for a given quenched disorder, into its average $\langle \cdots \rangle$ (over the noise and initial condition) and a fluctuating part:

$$\Xi(t) = \eta_0(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_0^{\mu} v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t) \right) = \zeta_d(t) + \zeta(t) ,$$
with $\zeta_d(t) = -\sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_0^{\mu} \left\langle v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t) \right) \right\rangle ,$
and $\zeta(t) = \eta_0(t) - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_0^{\mu} \left(v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t) \right) - \left\langle v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(0)}(t) \right) \right\rangle \right) .$
(27)

The fluctuations of the term $\zeta_d(t)$ are only due to the quenched disorder, and in the thermodynamic limit it becomes a Gaussian variable due to the central limit theorem. Instead, $\zeta(t)$ primarily fluctuates due to the thermal noise and the initial condition; it also becomes a Gaussian variable due to the central limit theorem. Its fluctuations over the disorder concentrate in the thermodynamic limit and can be neglected. One has therefore

$$\overline{\zeta_d(t)} = 0 , \qquad \overline{\zeta_d(t)\zeta_d(t')} = \alpha \overline{\langle v'(h(t))\rangle_h \langle v'(h(t'))\rangle_h} \equiv M_d(t, t') , \qquad (28)$$

$$\langle \zeta(t) \rangle = 0 , \quad \langle \zeta(t)\zeta(t') \rangle = \Gamma_C(t,t') + M_C^{(c)}(t,t') ,$$
 (29)

with $\Gamma_C(t,t')$ the noise kernel introduced in Eq. (3). The noises $\zeta_d(t)$ and $\zeta(t)$ can therefore be thought as two independent noises, the first representing the fluctuations of the disorder, the second representing the thermal fluctuations.

The effective equation (26) for $x_0(t)$ is representative of the dynamics of all variables in the thermodynamic limit of such fully-connected models, leading to an exact mean-field description. We can thus promote the effective dynamical process for $x_0(t)$ of Eq. (26) to the effective process characterising a typical variable x(t):

$$\int_0^t dt' \, \Gamma_R(t,t') \, \dot{x}(t') = -\tilde{\nu}(t) x(t) + \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(t,0) \, x(0) + \int_0^t dt' M_R(t,t') \, x(t') + \zeta_d(t) + \zeta(t) \,. \tag{30}$$

However, in order to close the equations, we have to write down the counterpart of Eq. (30) for the effective gap variable h(t), or equivalently for the reduced gap r(t) = h(t) + w. Indeed, the full dynamics depends on the gaps $h_{\mu}(t)$ rather than on the individual $x_i(t)$, and the different functions defined in order to obtain the effective formulation $-\tilde{\nu}(t)$, $M_R(t,t')$, $M_C^{(c)}(t,t')$, and $M_d(t,t')$ – are in fact statistical averages of combinations of v'(h(t)) and v''(h(t)), with h(t) the typical gap in the thermodynamic limit.

We thus consider a system with N variables and $M=\alpha N$ constraints labeled by $\mu=1,\ldots,M$, and we add a new constraint \mathbf{F}^0 that we will treat perturbatively in the large-N limit, in the same spirit as before. The corresponding new gap is $h_0(t)=\sum_{i=1}^N F_i^0 x_i(t)-w$. The effective dynamical equation for $x_i(t)$, in presence of the additional constraint, is still given by Eq. (30) (where an index i is added to x(t)), with the additional term coming from the new constraint:

$$\int_0^t dt' \, \Gamma_R(t,t') \, \dot{x}_i(t') = -\tilde{\nu}(t) x_i(t) + \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(t,0) \, x_i(0) + \int_0^t dt' M_R(t,t') \, x_i(t') + \zeta_d^i(t) + \zeta^i(t) - F_i^0 v'(h_0(t)) \,. \tag{31}$$

Here, ζ^i and ζ^i_d are at leading order independent copies of the noise terms defined in Eqs. (28)-(29). Note that the last term coming from the additional constraint is of order $1/\sqrt{N}$, and it vanishes in the thermodynamic limit $N\to\infty$ with $M=\alpha N$, giving back the effective equation (30) for the representative x(t). Adding one more constraint is a vanishing perturbation in the thermodynamic limit. However, from the point of view of gaps, these $1/\sqrt{N}$ terms sum coherently and give a finite contribution. Indeed, the self-consistency equation for the gap variable is obtained by multiplying Eq. (31) by F^0_i , and summing over i. Denoting the reduced gap $r(t) = \mathbf{F}^0 \cdot \mathbf{X}(t) = h_0(t) + w$, and dropping the index 0 because all gaps are equivalent, we obtain from Eq. (31) the following equation for the representative gap r(t):

$$\int_0^t dt' \, \Gamma_R(t, t') \dot{r}(t') = -\tilde{\nu}(t) r(t) + \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(t, 0) \, r(0) + \int_0^t dt' M_R(t, t') r(t') + \zeta_d(t) + \zeta(t) - v'(r(t) - w) \tag{32}$$

The new noises $\zeta(t) = \sum_{i=1}^N F_i^0 \zeta^i(t)$ and $\zeta_d(t) = \sum_{i=1}^N F_i^0 \zeta_{\underline{d}}^i(t)$ are linear combination of Gaussian variables, and therefore they are themselves Gaussian variables; thanks to the property $\overline{F_i^0 F_j^0} = \delta_{ij}/N$, they have exactly the same statistics as $\zeta(t)$ and $\zeta_d(t)$ given in Eqs. (28)-(29).

We gather thereafter the different functions introduced along the derivation, that are then self-consistently defined with respect to the effective stochastic process for r(t), or equivalently h(t), given in Eq. (32):

$$\tilde{\nu}(t) \stackrel{(17)}{=} \hat{\nu}(t) + \alpha \overline{\langle v''(h(t)) \rangle}_{h}, \qquad (33)$$

$$M_R(t,t') \stackrel{(22)}{=} \alpha \frac{\delta \overline{\langle v'(h(t))\rangle}_h}{\delta P(t')},$$
 (34)

$$M_C^{(c)}(t,t') \stackrel{(24)}{=} \alpha \left[\overline{\left\langle v'(h(t))v'(h(t')) \right\rangle_h} - \overline{\left\langle v'(h(t)) \right\rangle_h} \left\langle v'(h(t')) \right\rangle_h} \right] , \tag{35}$$

$$M_d(t,t') \stackrel{(28)}{=} \alpha \overline{\langle v'(h(t)) \rangle_h \langle v'(h(t')) \rangle_h},$$
 (36)

with α the fixed ratio of constraints to degrees of freedom, and the field P(t) has to be added to Eq. (32), as in Eq. (9), by replacing $v'(r(t)-w) \to v'(r(t)+P(t)-w)$. The Lagrange multiplier $\hat{\nu}(t)$ is self-consistently determined by enforcing the spherical constraint, $\mathbf{X}(t)^2 = N$, at the end of the calculation, implying for the individual $x_i(t)$ and in particular for its typical value that $\overline{\langle x(t)^2 \rangle} = 1$. It is important to stress that in the effective process, the average $\langle \cdots \rangle$ has become an average over the thermal noise $\zeta(t)$, and over the initial condition.

In summary, the equations (30,32) define a stochastic process containing kernels that can be computed self-consistently as observables of the process. This is the dynamical mean-field theory of the spherical random perceptron.

It remains, however, to define the initial conditions. If one starts the dynamics from random initial conditions, which corresponds to fixing $\beta_g=0$, then both the variables $x_i(0)$ and the gaps $h_\mu(0)$ are i.i.d. Gaussian random variables with zero mean and unit variance and the dynamical mean-field equations substantially simplify since several terms containing β_g drop out. The situation is instead more involved in the case in which the initial conditions are drawn from a Boltzmann measure at finite temperature. We shall consider it in the next section and then summarise all the results in the following one.

Finally, let us stress that starting from the self-consistent stochastic process one can also derive the evolution equations of the correlation and response functions. This will be done in Sec. III E.

C. Initial condition for the self-consistent process: the static cavity method

We now discuss the case in which the dynamics starts from an equilibrium distribution at $\beta_g > 0$, and deduce the corresponding initial condition for the effective process (30,32). In order to obtain it we need to consider the probability distribution of the initial condition for all the variables, given in the definition of our model, and then produce the marginal probability distribution of the variable x_0 . This can be done again using the cavity method, in its static version. In order to do that there are several possibilities, as in Refs. [53, 54]. Here we reproduce for completeness the static cavity route of Ref. [55], because it follows the same logic of its dynamical counterpart used in Sec. III B. In Sec. III F we will see that the dynamical derivation that we have

outlined above is consistent with the static cavity approach for the initial condition, when we consider the equilibrium case for the dynamics.

Let us recall the Boltzmann measure for the initial configuration of the system, first given in Eq. (4):

$$P_{N,M}(\mathbf{X}(0)) = \frac{1}{Z_{N,M}(\beta_g)} \exp \left[-\frac{\beta_g \lambda}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i(0)^2 - \beta_g \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} v(h_{\mu}(\mathbf{X}(0))) \right]$$
(37)

where we have underlined that the measure contains N variables x_i and $M = \alpha N$ constraints \mathbf{F}^{μ} with N components each, and we added a Lagrange multiplier λ in order to enforce the spherical constraint at initial time, i.e. $|\mathbf{X}(0)|^2 = N$. In general, depending on the potential v(h) and the temperature β_g , the model can be found in different phases [40, 43, 51, 52], see e.g. Ref. [35] for an explicit computation of the full phase diagram in the case of $v(h) = h^2 \theta(-h)/2$ and $\beta_g = \infty$. In the simplest case, corresponding to a "paramagnetic" or "liquid" phase, in the large-N limit the Boltzmann measure describes a single pure state. In other cases, corresponding to different spin glass phases, there are many coexisting pure states [43, 52]. In the following, for simplicity, we restrict to the case where there is a single pure state, usually called the "replica symmetric" case both in the replica and cavity literature. The results of this section thus hold in cases where the dynamics starts within the liquid or paramagnetic phase. The case where there are many coexisting pure states requires a more complicated treatment [43, 51, 52]. There is, however, a special case, usually called "dynamical 1RSB phase" [35, 52], in which there are many coexisting pure states, but the system remains globally paramagnetic; in this case, the thermodynamics is still described by the replica symmetric structure [3, 56, 57], and our results thus hold. This implies that the solution discussed in the following can be used to study the dynamics starting inside one of these pure states, as discussed in Ref. [58] for the p-spin model.

Moreover, specifically throughout this section, we will simply denote the initial condition by $\mathbf{X} = \{x_i\}$, dropping the indication of time t = 0 to simplify the notation; the brackets will correspond to the statistical average with respect to the Boltzmann measure (37) at fixed disorder, and the overline to the average with respect to the constraints.

We first want to determine the distribution of a typical gap h or reduced gap r = h + w resulting from Eq. (37). Let us consider a system with N variables and M constraints. We consider a new vector \mathbf{F}^0 , a corresponding gap $h_0 = \mathbf{F}^0 \cdot \mathbf{X} - w$ and a reduced gap $r_0 = \mathbf{F}^0 \cdot \mathbf{X}$. However, for the moment, the new constraint is not added to the Hamiltonian. First, we note that the variable r_0 is the sum of N random variables and due to the central limit theorem it becomes Gaussian when $N \to \infty$. Its statistical properties are thus given as follows, at fixed disorder and in the large-N limit:

$$\langle r_0 \rangle = \mathbf{F}^0 \cdot \langle \mathbf{X} \rangle \equiv \omega \,, \tag{38}$$

$$\langle r_0^2 \rangle_c = \sum_{i,j} F_i^0 F_j^0 \left[\langle x_i x_j \rangle - \langle x_i \rangle \langle x_j \rangle \right] \stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\simeq} \frac{1}{N} \left[\langle \mathbf{X}^2 \rangle - \langle \mathbf{X} \rangle^2 \right] \simeq 1 - q_g$$
 (39)

with
$$q_g \equiv \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \langle x_i \rangle^2$$
. (40)

The quantity q_g is the *overlap*, a crucial quantity of spin glass theory [43]. Here we added the suffix "g" to specify that it is computed at the inverse temperature β_g . Secondly, ω is a Gaussian random variable that fluctuates due to the disorder \mathbf{F}^0 . Its statistical properties are given by

$$\overline{\omega} = 0 \,, \quad \overline{\omega^2} = q_g \,.$$
 (41)

It follows from Eqs. (38)-(39) that the distribution of r_0 , in the system with N variables and M constraints, is

$$P_{N,M}(r_0|\omega) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi(1-q_g)}} \exp\left[-\frac{(r_0-\omega)^2}{2(1-q_g)}\right], \qquad P(\omega) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi q_g}} e^{-\omega^2/(2q_g)}. \tag{42}$$

When we add the new constraint \mathbf{F}^0 to the Hamiltonian, the distribution of r_0 in the system with M+1 constraints, conditioned to $\omega = \langle r_0 \rangle$, is modified to

$$P_{N,M+1}(r_0|\omega) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{(r_0-\omega)^2}{2(1-q_g)} - \beta_g v(r_0-w)\right],$$
 (43)

where the additional factor $\exp \left[-\beta_g v(r_0 - w)\right]$ is due to the modification of Eq. (37) because of the new constraint. Consequently, the initial condition for the effective process Eq. (32) for the typical initial reduced gap r(0) is extracted from

$$P(r(0)|\omega) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{(r(0)-\omega)^2}{2(1-q_g)} - \beta_g v(r(0)-w)\right], \qquad P(\omega) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi q_g}} e^{-\omega^2/(2q_g)}.$$
 (44)

However, we still need to determine self-consistently the parameter q_g controlling these distributions. To do this, let us add a new variable x_0 to the system. The new Boltzmann measure over x_0 reads

$$P_{N+1,M}(x_0) = \frac{1}{Z_{N+1,M}(\beta_g)} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^N dx_i \right) \exp \left\{ -\frac{\beta_g \lambda}{2} \sum_{i=1}^N x_i^2 - \frac{\beta_g \lambda}{2} x_0^2 - \beta_g \sum_{\mu=1}^M \left[v(h_\mu^{(N)}) + \delta v_\mu \right] \right\} , \tag{45}$$

where we have to retain only the two (small) leading terms of the perturbative expansion,

$$\delta v_{\mu} = F_0^{\mu} v'(h_{\mu}^{(N)}) x_0 + \frac{1}{2} (F_0^{\mu})^2 v''(h_{\mu}^{(N)}) x_0^2 . \tag{46}$$

We rewrite the previous expression as

$$P_{N+1,M}(x_0) \propto e^{-\frac{\beta_g \lambda}{2} x_0^2} \langle e^{-\beta_g \sum_{\mu=1}^M [F_0^\mu v'(h_\mu^{(N)}) x_0 + \frac{1}{2} (F_0^\mu)^2 v''(h_\mu^{(N)}) x_0^2]} \rangle_N , \tag{47}$$

where the average $\langle \cdot \rangle_N$ is over the system in absence of x_0 . Because the argument of the exponential is small we can perform an expansion in cumulants; only the first two have to be retained in the large-N limit. As before, one can recognise that some of the resulting contributions becomes non-fluctuating, *i.e.* their distributions concentrate around a fixed value, in the large N limit. The final result is that

$$P_{N+1,M}(x_0) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{\beta_g \tilde{\lambda}}{2} x_0^2 - Ax_0\right] , \qquad (48)$$

where

$$\tilde{\lambda} = \lambda + \alpha \overline{\langle v''(r-w) \rangle} - \alpha \beta_g \left[\overline{\langle (v'(r-w))^2 \rangle - \langle v'(r-w) \rangle^2} \right], \tag{49}$$

$$A = \beta_g \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} F_0^{\mu} \langle v'(r-w) \rangle \qquad \text{fluctuates over the disorder with}$$
 (50)

$$\overline{A} = 0, \qquad \overline{A^2} = \beta_g^2 \sum_{\mu,\nu=1}^M F_0^{\mu} F_0^{\nu} \langle v'(r-w) \rangle^2 \simeq \alpha \beta_g^2 \overline{\langle v'(r-w) \rangle^2}.$$
 (51)

The brackets are now thermal averages over the random variable r extracted according to the probability distribution $P(r|\omega)$, while the overlines are the averages over the disorder represented by ω with the Gaussian measure $P(\omega)$, both given in Eq. (44). The connection with the parameter q_g in the distributions (44) is made by using the definition of q_g in Eq. (40) and the spherical constraint:

$$\langle x_0 \rangle = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x_0 \exp\left[-\frac{\beta_g \tilde{\lambda}}{2} x_0^2 - Ax_0\right] x_0}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x_0 \exp\left[-\frac{\beta_g \tilde{\lambda}}{2} x_0^2 - Ax_0\right]} = -\frac{A}{\beta_g \tilde{\lambda}} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad q_g \stackrel{(40)}{=} \overline{\langle x_0 \rangle^2} = \frac{\overline{A^2}}{(\beta_g \tilde{\lambda})^2} \,, \tag{52}$$

$$\langle x_0^2 \rangle = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x_0 \exp\left[-\frac{\beta_g \tilde{\lambda}}{2} x_0^2 - Ax_0\right] x_0^2}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x_0 \exp\left[-\frac{\beta_g \tilde{\lambda}}{2} x_0^2 - Ax_0\right]} = \frac{A^2 + \beta_g \tilde{\lambda}}{(\beta_g \tilde{\lambda})^2} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad 1 = \overline{\langle x_0^2 \rangle} = \frac{\overline{A^2} + \beta_g \tilde{\lambda}}{(\beta_g \tilde{\lambda})^2} \,. \tag{53}$$

It follows that

$$\beta_g \tilde{\lambda} = \frac{1}{1 - q_g} \,, \tag{54}$$

(ii)
$$\frac{q_g}{(1-q_g)^2} = \overline{A^2} = \alpha \beta_g^2 \overline{\langle v'(r-w) \rangle^2}, \qquad (55)$$

(iii)
$$\beta_g \lambda = \frac{1 - 2q_g}{(1 - q_g)^2} - \alpha \beta_g \overline{\langle v''(r - w) \rangle} + \alpha \beta_g^2 \overline{\langle (v'(r - w))^2 \rangle}, \tag{56}$$

and in particular Eq. (55) provides the self-consistency equation for q_g that we were seeking, writing explicitly the statistical averages according to Eq. (44):

$$\frac{q_g}{(1 - q_g)^2} = \alpha \beta_g^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega \, e^{-\omega^2/(2q_g)}}{\sqrt{2\pi q_g}} \left[\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dr \, v'(r - w) \exp\left[-\frac{(r - \omega)^2}{2(1 - q_g)} - \beta_g v(r - w)\right]}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dr \exp\left[-\frac{(r - \omega)^2}{2(1 - q_g)} - \beta_g v(r - w)\right]} \right]^2 . \tag{57}$$

These equations coincide with what can be obtained through the replica method in the RS phase where a single pure state exists [35]. The generalisation to a more complicated RSB structure requires the introduction of a hierarchy of fields that describe the fluctuations of quantities such as ω in the different pure states [43].

From all this, it follows that the effective single variable x is distributed at time t=0 according to the following probability distribution combining Eqs. (48), (51) and (55):

$$P(x(0)|A) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{\beta_g \tilde{\lambda}}{2} x(0)^2 - Ax(0)\right], \qquad P(A) = \sqrt{\frac{(1-q_g)^2}{2\pi q_g}} \exp\left[-\frac{(1-q_g)^2}{2q_g}A^2\right],$$
 (58)

where q_g satisfies Eq. (57). This concludes the characterisation of the probability distributions of the effective single variable and reduced gap at time t=0. We will see that these probability distributions can be obtained also from the path integral approach in Sec. IV.

D. Summary: the single-variable effective stochastic process

Here we summarise the effective processes that we have obtained in Sec. III B and Sec. III C. We recall that β_g is the inverse temperature of the Boltzman measure (4) chosen as initial condition, while Γ_R and Γ_C are respectively the friction and noise kernels defined and discussed in Sec. II. Our main results are:

1. For the typical variable x(t) the dynamics is given by Eqs. (28), (29) and (30):

$$\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \, \dot{x}(s) = -\tilde{\nu}(t)x(t) + \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(t,0) \, x(0) + \int_{0}^{t} ds \, M_{R}(t,s) \, x(s) + \zeta_{d}(t) + \zeta(t) ,$$

$$\overline{\zeta_{d}(t)} = 0 , \quad \overline{\zeta_{d}(t)\zeta_{d}(t')} = M_{d}(t,t') ,$$

$$\langle \zeta(t) \rangle = 0 , \quad \langle \zeta(t)\zeta(t') \rangle = \Gamma_{C}(t,t') + M_{C}^{(c)}(t,t') .$$
(59)

Here, the overline represents an average over the Gaussian noise $\zeta_d(t)$, while the brackets represent an independent average over the Gaussian noise $\zeta(t)$. The first noise represents the fluctuations due to disorder, while the second represents the thermal fluctuations: but at this stage their origin can be forgotten and one can just think to them as independent sources of noise. Note that this equation is exactly identical to the one of the spherical p-spin in zero external field [3, 58], the only difference being that $\zeta_d(t) = 0$ in that case (in presence of an external field $\zeta_d(t)$ is non zero).

2. As for the initial condition of Eq. (59), we can rewrite Eq. (58), using Eq. (54), as:

$$P(x(0)|\zeta_d(0)) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{x(0)^2}{2(1-q_g)} + \beta_g \zeta_d(0)x(0)\right],$$

$$P(\zeta_d(0)) = \sqrt{\frac{\beta_g^2(1-q_g)^2}{2\pi q_g}} \exp\left[-\frac{(1-q_g)^2}{2q_g}\beta_g^2 \zeta_d^2(0)\right],$$
(60)

having recognised that the random variable A defined in Eq. (51) is nothing but $-\beta_g \zeta_d(0)$ in the large-N limit, according to the definition of this noise in Eq. (27). Note that a special case is the limit $\beta_g=0$ in which $q_g=0$ and one is just extracting the initial condition according to $P(x(0))=\exp[-x(0)^2/2]/\sqrt{2\pi}$, i.e. uniformly over the sphere.

3. For the typical reduced gap r(t) the dynamics is given by Eq. (32):

$$\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, \Gamma_R(t,s) \, \dot{r}(s) = -\tilde{\nu}(t) r(t) - v'(r(t) - w) + \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(t,0) \, r(0) + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, M_R(t,s) r(s) + \zeta_d(t) + \zeta(t) \,, \tag{61}$$

where $\zeta(t)$ and $\zeta_d(t)$ are *independent* copies of the same noises introduced in Eq. (59), hence with the same statistical properties.

4. As for the initial condition of Eq. (61), we can deduce it from Eq. (44). If we identify $\omega/(1-q_g)$ with $\beta_g\zeta_d(0)$ we obtain:

$$P(r(0)|\zeta_d(0)) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{r(0)^2}{2(1-q_g)} + \beta_g \zeta_d(0)r(0) - \beta_g v(r(0) - w)\right],$$

$$P(\zeta_d(0)) = \sqrt{\frac{\beta_g^2 (1-q_g)^2}{2\pi q_g}} \exp\left[-\frac{(1-q_g)^2}{2q_g} \beta_g^2 \zeta_d^2(0)\right].$$
(62)

Once again in the limit $\beta_g=0$, $q_g=0$, one has $P(r(0))=\exp[-r(0)^2/2]/\sqrt{2\pi}$ provided that v(h) is a smooth potential.

5. All these relations depend on the parameter q_g , which is self-consistently given by Eq. (57):

$$\frac{q_g}{(1-q_g)^2} = \alpha \beta_g^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\omega \, e^{-\omega^2/(2q_g)}}{\sqrt{2\pi q_g}} \left[\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}r \, v'(r-w) \exp\left[-\frac{(r-\omega)^2}{2(1-q_g)} - \beta_g v(r-w)\right]}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}r \exp\left[-\frac{(r-\omega)^2}{2(1-q_g)} - \beta_g v(r-w)\right]} \right]^2$$
(63)

so that it depends only on the ratio $\alpha = M/N$, the inverse temperature β_q , and the potential v(h) with its parameter w.

6. The noise and friction kernels are defined self-consistently as averages over the effective process (61) for r(t) or equivalently h(t) = r(t) - w:

$$\tilde{\nu}(t) \stackrel{(17)}{=} \hat{\nu}(t) + \alpha \overline{\langle v''(h(t)) \rangle}_{h},$$

$$M_{R}(t, t') \stackrel{(22)}{=} \alpha \frac{\delta \overline{\langle v'(h(t)) \rangle}_{h}}{\delta P(t')} \bigg|_{P(t)=0},$$

$$M_{C}^{(c)}(t, t') \stackrel{(24)}{=} \alpha \left[\overline{\langle v'(h(t))v'(h(t')) \rangle}_{h} - \overline{\langle v'(h(t)) \rangle}_{h} \overline{\langle v'(h(t)) \rangle}_{h} \right],$$

$$M_{d}(t, t') \stackrel{(28)}{=} \alpha \overline{\langle v'(h(t)) \rangle}_{h} \overline{\langle v'(h(t')) \rangle}_{h},$$
(64)

where the brackets are averages over $\zeta(t)$ and the overlines are averages over $\zeta_d(t)$, and the field P(t) has to be added to Eq. (61) by replacing $v'(r(t)-w) \to v'(r(t)+P(t)-w)$. Note that for the p-spin model, as well as in Mode-Coupling Theory, these kernels can be simply expressed as power-laws of the correlation and response functions, which makes the problem much simpler [2, 3, 16]. Finally, the Lagrange multiplier $\hat{\nu}(t)$ that is contained in $\tilde{\nu}(t)$ must be fixed by the spherical constraint, which implies the condition $\overline{\langle x^2(t)\rangle} = 1$, that will be solved explicitly in Sec. III E.

These findings constitute our main result. We will see in Sec. IV how the same result can be recovered by a different approach based on path integrals.

E. Dynamical equations for the correlation and response functions

In Sec. III D we have summarised the results of the cavity derivation: a self-consistent equation for the memory kernels $M_R(t,t')$ and $M_C(t,t') = M_C^{(c)}(t,t') + M_d(t,t')$, which are written as averages over an effective stochastic process for the typical gap h(t), together with an effective stochastic process, Eq. (59), for the typical variable x(t) that depends on these kernels.

From Eq. (59), one can derive evolution equations relating the correlation and response functions,

$$\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \overline{\langle x_{i}(t) x_{i}(t') \rangle} \stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\to} \overline{\langle x(t) x(t') \rangle} \equiv C(t, t') ,$$

$$\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \overline{\langle x_{i}(t) \rangle \langle x_{i}(t') \rangle} \stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\to} \overline{\langle x(t) \rangle \langle x(t') \rangle} \equiv C_{d}(t, t') ,$$

$$\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\delta \overline{\langle x_{i}(t) \rangle}}{\delta H_{i}(t')} \stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\to} \frac{\delta \overline{\langle x(t) \rangle}}{\delta H(t')} = \overline{\langle \delta x(t) \rangle} \equiv R(t, t') ,$$
(65)

to the memory kernels. Here, for all these observables, the original averages over the microscopic dynamics of Eq. (3) becomes, in the thermodynamic limit, averages over the effective process of Sec. III D, with the averages over thermal noise and disorder being replaced by the averages over the effective noises. For the response function, the field H(t') should be added linearly to Eq. (59), but because this equation is linear, one can also formally use $\zeta(t')$ to define the response [2, 3]. Note however that, at $t \ge t' = 0$, one should not mistake the *dynamical* reponse function R(t,0) with the response resulting from a modification of the initial condition itself, which would add an additional contribution that we will not consider thereafter. Note that by causality one has R(t,t') = 0 for t' > t and in particular $R(t,t' \to t^+) = 0$. Because the derivation of these equation is standard, we only give the main steps and we refer to Refs. [2, 3] for more details.

Multiplying Eq. (59) by x(t') with $t' \in [0, t]$ and taking the average over the two effective noises $\zeta_d(t)$ and $\zeta(t)$, we get the following equation for the correlation:

$$\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \, \partial_{s} C(s,t') = -\tilde{\nu}(t) C(t,t') + \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(t,0) C(t',0) + \int_{0}^{t} ds M_{R}(t,s) C(s,t') + \overline{\langle \zeta_{d}(t) \langle x(t') \rangle} + \overline{\langle \zeta(t) x(t') \rangle} \,.$$

$$(66)$$

Using standard manipulations [3], or Girsanov theorem, one can show that

$$\overline{\zeta_d(t)\langle x(t')\rangle} = \int_0^{t'} ds \, M_d(t,s) \, R(t',s) + \beta_g M_d(t,0) \left[C(t',0) - C_d(t',0) \right] , \tag{67}$$

$$\overline{\langle \zeta(t)x(t')\rangle} = \int_0^{t'} \mathrm{d}s \left[\Gamma_C(t,s) + M_C^{(c)}(t,s) \right] R(t',s) , \qquad (68)$$

with the integral boundaries $s \in [0,t']$ reflecting the causality encoded in the response R(t',s). We can note that we have $M_C^{(c)}(t,s) + M_d(t,s) = \alpha \overline{\langle v'(h(t))v'(h(s))\rangle} \equiv M_C(t,s)$, i.e. the second moment of the 'forces' v'(h(t)) instead of its second cumulant $M_C^{(c)}(t,s)$. Therefore the dynamical equation for the correlation function becomes

$$\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \, \partial_{s} C(s,t') = -\tilde{\nu}(t) C(t,t') + \int_{0}^{t} ds M_{R}(t,s) C(s,t') + \int_{0}^{t'} ds \left[\Gamma_{C}(t,s) + M_{C}^{(c)}(t,s) + M_{d}(t,s) \right] R(t',s)
+ \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(t,0) \, C(t',0) + \beta_{g} M_{d}(t,0) \left[C(t',0) - C_{d}(t',0) \right] .$$
(69)

In order to obtain the equation for $C_d(t, t')$, we first average over $\zeta(t)$, then we multiply by $\langle x(t') \rangle$ with $t' \in [0, t]$, and eventually average over $\zeta_d(t)$:

$$\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \, \partial_{s} C_{d}(s,t') = -\tilde{\nu}(t) C_{d}(t,t') + \int_{0}^{t} ds M_{R}(t,s) C_{d}(s,t') + \int_{0}^{t'} ds \, M_{d}(t,s) \, R(t',s) \\
+ \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(t,0) \, C_{d}(t',0) + \beta_{g} M_{d}(t,0) \, \left[C(t',0) - C_{d}(t',0) \right] .$$
(70)

We see that the structures of both these dynamical equations are very close to each other, and that they are coupled through the contribution $\propto [C(t',0) - C_d(t',0)]$.

With a similar strategy we can write the equation for the response function. We use the definition of R(t,t') in Eq. (65), from which it follows that $\partial_s R(s,t') = \overline{\left\langle \frac{\delta \dot{x}(s)}{\delta \zeta(t')} \right\rangle}$. Differentiating Eq. (59) with respect to $\zeta(t')$, we then obtain an equation for R(t,t'). Using that by causality $R(s,t') \propto \theta(s-t')$, and that the initial condition x(0) that appears in Eq. (59) is independent of $\zeta(t')$, we get

$$\int_{t'}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_R(t,s) \partial_s R(s,t') = \delta(t-t') - \tilde{\nu}(t) R(t,t') + \int_{t'}^{t} ds M_R(t,s) R(s,t') . \tag{71}$$

The Lagrange multiplier can be fixed by the requirement that $C(t,t) = \overline{\langle x(t)^2 \rangle} = 1$, as inherited from the spherical constraint. Evaluating Eq. (69) at t = t', one can deduce:

$$\tilde{\nu}(t) = \int_0^t ds \left\{ M_R(t, s) C(s, t) - \Gamma_R(t, s) \, \partial_s C(s, t) + \left[\Gamma_C(t, s) + M_C(t, s) \right] R(t, s) \right\} + \beta_g M_C(t, 0) C(t, 0) - \beta_g M_d(t, 0) C_d(t, 0) .$$
(72)

We have thus obtained the set of coupled Eqs. (69)-(70)-(71)-(72), that allow one to obtain the physical observables C(t,t'), $C_d(t,t')$ and R(t,t') from the memory kernels, and Eq. (72) that provides an expression of the Lagrange multiplier that enters in the effective process. Note that these equations are exactly identical to the ones of the spherical p-spin model [3, 58], though the relation between the memory kernels and the response and correlation is very different, as already discussed.

F. The equilibrium case

The analysis of the effective stochastic process is highly nontrivial, because the memory kernels are themselves self-consistently determined as averages over this process. Unfortunately, no analytical treatment is possible and the solution must be found numerically. Still, the analysis simplifies considerably and can be carried on analytically in the equilibrium case, *i.e.* the steady state with fluctuation-dissipation theorem (FDT) and time-translational invariance (TTI), for a thermal bath of inverse temperature $\beta = 1/T$. In this case one should recover the results obtained from the static cavity and replica approaches [58]. In this section we discuss this connection, which serves as a test of the correctness of the derivation.

Let us consider the equilibrium limit in which the thermal bath that appears in the dynamical equations is stationary and satisfies a FDT in the form $\Gamma_R(t-t') = \beta \theta(t-t') \Gamma_C(t-t')$ (see Sec. II), with the same inverse temperature as the one that defines the initial condition ($\beta = \beta_g$). In that case the initial Boltzmann measure (4) is the one corresponding to the equilibrium state of the dynamics, therefore the dynamics must also be stationary: the averages of physical obserables are time independent, while correlation functions C(t,t') become functions of the time-difference t-t', and we thus sometimes write them, with an abuse of notation, as functions of a single time, $C(t,t') \to C(t-t') \to C(t)$. The correlation-response functions and memory kernels are time-translational invariant, and also satisfy FDT relations:

$$R(t-t') = -\beta \theta(t-t')\partial_t C(t-t'), \qquad M_R(t-t') = -\beta \theta(t-t')\partial_t M_C^{(c)}(t-t').$$
(73)

In this case, the dynamics is in equilibrium at all times. We now restrict to a paramagnetic, or replica symmetric, phase where there is a single pure state. In this case, at long times, the configuration decorrelates from the initial condition. As a consequence, $\langle x_i(t)x_i(0)\rangle \to \langle x_i\rangle^2$ for $t\to\infty$, and therefore the overlap introduced in Eq. (40) can be extracted from the long-time limit of the correlation function, $q_g=q=\lim_{t\to\infty}C(t)$. From this observation, we can recover the results obtained through the static cavity method in Sec. III C.

In the following, to simplify the analysis, we focus on the simplest case $\Gamma_C(t) = 2T\gamma\delta(t)$, but the results can be easily extended to a generic $\Gamma_C(t)$. Because the averages of physical obserables are time independent, we have from Eq. (64):

$$\tilde{\nu}(t) = \hat{\nu} + \alpha \overline{\langle v''(h) \rangle}_h \equiv \tilde{\nu}_{eq} ,$$

$$M_C^{(c)}(t,t) = \alpha \overline{[\langle v'(h)^2 \rangle}_h - \langle v'(h) \rangle_h^2] \equiv M_C^{(c)}(0) ,$$

$$M_d(t,t') = \alpha \overline{\langle v'(h) \rangle}_h^2 \equiv M_d^{eq} .$$
(74)

The last relation implies that ζ_d is a time-independent Gaussian random field with the following statistics:

$$\overline{\zeta_d} = 0, \quad \overline{\zeta_d^2} = M_d^{\text{eq}} \quad \Rightarrow \quad P(\zeta_d) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi M_d^{\text{eq}}}} \exp\left\{-\frac{\zeta_d^2}{2M_d^{\text{eq}}}\right\}.$$
(75)

Furthermore, plugging the FDT relations (73) into Eq. (59) for the effective variable x(t), into Eq. (61) for the effective gap h(t), and into Eq. (69) for the correlation function C(t), one obtains via an integration by parts:

$$\gamma \,\partial_t C(t - t') + \beta \int_{t'}^t \mathrm{d}s \, M_C^{(c)}(t - s) \,\partial_s C(s - t') = -\tau_{\text{eq}} \, C(t - t') + \overline{\zeta_d \,\langle x \rangle} \,, \tag{76}$$

$$\gamma \dot{x}(t) + \beta \int_{0}^{t} ds \, M_{C}^{(c)}(t-s) \, \dot{x}(s) = -\tau_{\text{eq}} \, x(t) + \zeta_{d} + \zeta(t) \,, \tag{77}$$

$$\gamma \dot{r}(t) + \beta \int_{0}^{t} ds \, M_{C}^{(c)}(t-s) \, \dot{r}(s) = -\tau_{\text{eq}} \, r(t) - v'(r(t)-w) + \zeta_{d} + \zeta(t) \,, \tag{78}$$

$$\begin{cases}
\overline{\zeta_d} = 0, \quad \overline{\zeta_d^2} = M_d^{\text{eq}}, \\
\langle \zeta(t) \rangle = 0, \quad \langle \zeta(t)\zeta(t') \rangle = 2T\gamma \,\delta(t - t') + M_C^{(c)}(t - t'),
\end{cases}$$
(79)

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \equiv \tilde{\nu}_{\rm eq} - \beta M_C^{(c)}(0) = T + \overline{\zeta_d \langle x \rangle} , \tag{80}$$

which are the equations that fully describe the equilibrium dynamics. The second expression for $\tau_{\rm eq}$ in Eq. (80) can be deduced by taking the limit $t' \to t^-$ in Eq. (76), using that $\gamma \partial_t C(t-t') \to T$ for $t' \to t^-$.

Let us now analyze these equations. The dynamical Eq. (77) is the one of a harmonic oscillator with force $f_x(x) = -\tau_{\rm eq} \, x + \zeta_d$, which derives from a potential $V_x(x) = \frac{1}{2}\tau_{\rm eq} \, x^2 + \zeta_d x$, coupled to an equilibrium thermal bath described

by the friction term and the noise $\zeta(t)$. At all times, x is thus described by its stationary measure proportional to $\exp[-\beta V_x(x)]$, *i.e.*

$$P(x|\zeta_d) \propto \exp\left[-\beta \left(\frac{1}{2}\tau_{\text{eq}} x^2 - \zeta_d x\right)\right]$$
 (81)

It follows that $\langle x \rangle = \int dx P(x|\zeta_d) x = \zeta_d/\tau_{eq}$, and

$$\overline{\zeta_d \langle x \rangle} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\zeta_d}{\sqrt{2\pi M_d^{\mathrm{eq}}}} e^{-\frac{\zeta_d^2}{2M_d^{\mathrm{eq}}}} \frac{\zeta_d^2}{\tau_{\mathrm{eq}}} = \frac{M_d^{\mathrm{eq}}}{\tau_{\mathrm{eq}}} \,.$$
(82)

As a consequence,

$$\tau_{\text{eq}} \stackrel{\text{(80)}}{=} T + \overline{\zeta_d \langle x \rangle} \stackrel{\text{(82)}}{=} T + \frac{M_d^{\text{eq}}}{\tau_{\text{eq}}} \,. \tag{83}$$

We can obtain a second relation between $\tau_{\rm eq}$ and $M_d^{\rm eq}$ by taking the long-time limit of Eq. (76). In this limit, the left hand side vanishes. The first term in the left hand side vanishes because $C(t-t')\to q$ becomes a constant, hence $\partial_t C(t-t')\to 0$. The second term vanishes because when t-t' is very large, either $M_C^{(c)}(t-s)\to 0$ (when s is far from t) or $\partial_s C(s-t')\to 0$ (when s is far from t'), or both. Recalling that $q=\lim_{t\to\infty}C(t)$, we thus obtain

$$0 = -\tau_{\text{eq}}q + \overline{\zeta_d \langle x \rangle} = -\tau_{\text{eq}}q + \frac{M_d^{\text{eq}}}{\tau_{\text{eq}}}.$$
 (84)

From Eqs. (83) and (84) it follows that

(i)
$$\tau_{\text{eq}} = \frac{1}{\beta(1-q)}$$
,
(ii) $\frac{q}{(1-q)^2} = \beta^2 M_d^{\text{eq}} = \alpha \beta^2 \overline{\langle v'(h) \rangle^2}$. (85)

Finally, Eq. (78) describes a particle r(t) moving in a potential $V_r(r) = \frac{1}{2}\tau_{\rm eq}\,r^2 + \zeta_d r + v(r-w)$, and in contact with an equilibrium bath, so the stationary measure for r(t) is proportional to $\exp[-\beta V_r(r)]$. Given this observation, and using Eq. (85), it is easy to check that the distributions $P(r|\zeta_d)$ and $P(\zeta_d)$ coincide with the ones obtained in Eq. (62) in Sec. III C. As a consequence, the second Eq. (85), which is a self-consistent equation for q, coincides with Eq. (57), that was obtained through the static cavity method in Sec. III C. And, without surprise, both equations coincide with what can be obtained from a purely static replica computation [35]. Moreover, this derivation has provided an alternative physical interpretation to the parameter $q_q = \overline{\langle x \rangle^2}$ as the long-time plateau of the correlation function, since $q_g = q = \lim_{t \to \infty} C(t)$.

IV. DERIVATION OF THE DYNAMICAL MEAN-FIELD EQUATIONS THROUGH PATH-INTEGRAL AND SUPERSYMMETRY

We now follow an alternative and complementary path to obtain the same dynamical equations as via the cavity method, namely the *Martin-Siggia-Rose-Jensen-De Dominicis* (MSRJD) formalism for path integrals in its supersymmetric (SUSY) form. In the large-N limit these path integrals will be dominated by the saddle point of their SUSY dynamical action, that we will determine. From there we will show how we can recover the mean-field effective stochastic process summarised in Sec. III D, along with the correlation and reponse dynamical equations given in Sec. III E.

Thereafter, we first compute the dynamical MSRJD action of the random continuous perceptron and determine its large-N saddle point exploiting its SUSY formulation (Sec. IV A). Secondly we extract from the saddle-point equation the effective stochastic process for the typical reduced gap r(t) = h(t) + w (Sec. IV B). Thirdly we derive in a similar way the set of dynamical equations for the correlation and response functions, using the SUSY algebra as a powerful shortcut (Sec. IV C).

A. SUSY dynamical action and its large-N saddle point

The SUSY formulation of the dynamics of Eq. (3) can be found in Ref. [2] but we use slightly different conventions and we do not introduce fermions because we use the Ito convention [59, 60]. We would like to compute the dynamical action associated

to

$$Z_{\text{dyn}} \equiv \overline{\left\langle \int \mathcal{D}\mathbf{X}(t) \frac{1}{Z(\beta_g)} e^{-\beta_g \hat{\mathcal{H}}\left(\mathbf{X}(0)\right)} \prod_{i=1}^N \delta \left[-\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, \Gamma_R(t,s) \dot{x}_i(s) - \hat{\nu}(t) x_i(t) - \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}\left(\mathbf{X}(t)\right)}{\partial x_i(t)} + \eta_i(t) \right] \right\rangle} = 1$$
(86)

where the overline and the brackets stand for the average over the quenched disorder and the noise η respectively, and we have made explicit the average over the initial configuration [61]. The measure $\int \mathcal{D}\mathbf{X}(t)$ thus sums over all the possible histories of the degrees of freedom $\{x_i(t)\}_{i=1,\dots,N}$ compatible with the Langevin dynamics (3) and with a stochastic initial condition sampled according to Eq. (4). We have denoted

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{X}(0)) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i(0)^2 + \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} v(h_{\mu}(\mathbf{X}(0)))$$
(87)

where λ is the Lagrange multiplier needed to enforce the spherical constraint specifically on the initial condition as in Eq. (37). Before going further, it is useful to decompose the kernels Γ_R and Γ_C into their regular and singular parts:

$$\Gamma_R(t,s) = \gamma_R \delta(t-s) + \theta(t-s) \Gamma_R^*(t,s) , \qquad \Gamma_C(t,s) = 2T \gamma_C \delta(t-s) + \Gamma_C^*(t,s) . \tag{88}$$

This decomposition is useful because we can reformulate the friction term that appears in the Dirac δ function of Eq. (86), via an integration by parts, as

$$-\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \dot{x}_{i}(s) - \hat{\nu}(t) x_{i}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} ds \, \partial_{s} \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \, x_{i}(s) - \left[\hat{\nu}(t) + \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t,t)\right] x_{i}(t) + \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t,0) \, x_{i}(0) \,. \tag{89}$$

One technical pitfall is that for Γ_R both its singular and regular parts have a discontinuity at s=t, which has to be considered with care when performing integrations by parts. In fact the integration boundaries are always to be understood as $s\in[0,t^+]$, so that there is no ambuguity on cutting half of Dirac δ or Heaviside θ functions. Note that we can recover the case of a white equilibrium thermal bath by simply imposing $\gamma_R=\gamma_C=\gamma$, $\Gamma_R^*\equiv 0$ and $\Gamma_C^*\equiv 0$ at any step in the computation, and we can also recover the case without a white noise by setting $\gamma_R=\gamma_C=0$. The alternative would be to consider $\Gamma_R(t)=\gamma \frac{1}{\tau}e^{-t/\tau}\theta(t)$ and $\Gamma_C(t)=T\gamma \frac{1}{\tau}e^{-t/\tau}$ in the limit $\tau\to 0$, but this is less straightforward especially for intermediary steps.

1. Introducing replicas for the initial condition

Because the partition function $Z(\beta_g)$ depends on the quenched disorder, to treat the initial condition we need to introduce replicas, *i.e.* consider now $\{\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t)\}$ with $\sigma=1,\ldots,n$ along with their associated response fields $\{\hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t)\}$:

$$Z_{\text{dyn}} = \lim_{n \to 0} \overline{\left\langle \int \mathcal{D} \mathbf{X}(t) Z(\beta_g)^{n-1} e^{-\beta_g \hat{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{X}(0))} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \delta \left(-\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_R(t, s) \, \dot{x}_i(s) - \hat{\nu}(t) \, x_i(t) - \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{X}(t))}{\delta x_i(t)} + \eta_i(t) \right) \right\rangle}$$

$$= \lim_{n \to 0} \int \left(\prod_{\sigma=2}^{n} d\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(0) \right) \int \mathcal{D} \mathbf{X}^{(1)}(t) \mathcal{D} \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}(t) e^{S_{\text{dyn}}}$$
(90)

where the dynamical action $S_{\rm dyn}$ is obtained by standard manipulation using that the $\eta_i(t)$ are Gaussian noises in Eq. (3):

$$S_{\text{dyn}} = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \int_{0}^{\infty} dt' \left[\frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{C}(t, t') i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}(t) \cdot i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}(t') + \partial_{t'} \Gamma_{R}(t, t') i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(1)}(t') \right]$$

$$- \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \left[\hat{\nu}(t) + \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t, t) \right] i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(1)}(t) + \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t, 0) i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(1)}(0)$$

$$+ \ln \exp \left[- \int_{0}^{\infty} dt i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}(t) \cdot \frac{\partial \mathcal{H} \left(\mathbf{X}^{(1)}(t) \right)}{\partial \mathbf{X}^{(1)}(t)} - \beta_{g} \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \hat{\mathcal{H}} \left(\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(0) \right) \right]$$

$$(91)$$

At this point we can note that we can make all the replicas become dynamical. This is due to the fact that for any realisation of the initial condition and disorder we have

$$1 = \int \mathcal{D}\mathbf{X}(t) \,\delta \left(\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \,\partial_s \Gamma_R(t,s) \,\mathbf{X}(s) - \left[\hat{\nu}(t) + \Gamma_R^*(t,t) \right] \mathbf{X}(t) + \Gamma_R^*(t,0) \,\mathbf{X}(0) - \frac{\delta \mathcal{H} \left(\mathbf{X}(t) \right)}{\delta \mathbf{X}(t)} + \eta(t) \right) \,. \tag{92}$$

Therefore we can write

$$Z_{\text{dyn}} = \lim_{n \to 0} \int \left(\prod_{\sigma=1}^{n} \mathcal{D} \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t) \mathcal{D} \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \right) e^{S_{\text{dyn}}} = 1,$$
(93)

where

$$S_{\text{dyn}} = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, dt' \left[\frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{C}(t, t') \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \cdot i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t') + \partial_{t'} \Gamma_{R}(t, t') \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t') \right]$$

$$- \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \left[\hat{\nu}(t) + \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t, t) \right] \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t) + \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t, 0) \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(0)$$

$$- \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \beta_{g} \lambda \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(0)^{2} + \log \exp \left\{ - \sum_{\mu=1}^{M} \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, v' \left(h_{\mu}^{(\sigma)}(t) \right) \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{F}^{\mu} + \beta_{g} v \left(h_{\mu}^{(\sigma)}(0) \right) \right] \right\}.$$

$$(94)$$

We used Eq. (87) to make explicit $\hat{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(0))$. We recall that the disorder corresponds to the random Gaussian constraints $\{\mathbf{F}_{\mu}\}_{\mu=1,...,M}$ defining the gaps $h_{\mu}^{(\sigma)}(t) = \mathbf{F}_{\mu} \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t) - w$, hidden in the Hamiltonian potential v.

2. SUSY formulation

The dynamical action can be put in a supersymmetric form, having then a structure similar to the replicated Hamiltonian in the static case [47, 60] and much more compact, which greatly simplifies the derivation of the saddle point. In order to do so, we introduce superfields with Grassmann variables $\theta\bar{\theta}$ [60]

$$\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a) = \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t_a) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t_a) ,
\delta(a,b) = \delta(t_a - t_b)(\theta_a \bar{\theta}_a + \theta_b \bar{\theta}_b) , \qquad \delta_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) = \delta_{\sigma\tau}\delta(a,b) ,
\Rightarrow \int da \, f[\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a)] = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t_a \, \mathrm{d}\bar{\theta}_a \mathrm{d}\theta_a \, f[\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t_a) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t_a)] = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t_a \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t_a) f'[\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t_a)]$$
(95)

and specifically for the SUSY representation of our dynamics we define:

$$\beta(a) = 1 + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a \beta_g \, \delta(t_a) \,,$$

$$\nu(a) = \hat{\nu}(t_a) + \Gamma_R^*(t_a, t_a) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a \, \beta_g \lambda \, \delta(t_a) \,,$$

$$\Gamma_{\sigma\tau}(a, b) = \delta_{\sigma\tau} \underbrace{\left[\Gamma_C(t_a, t_b) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a \, \partial_{t_a} \Gamma_R(t_b, t_a) + \theta_b \bar{\theta}_b \, \partial_{t_b} \Gamma_R(t_a, t_b)\right]}_{\equiv \hat{\Gamma}(a, b)} + \delta_{\sigma\tau} \left[\theta_a \bar{\theta}_a \delta(t_a) \Gamma_R^*(t_b, t_a) + \theta_b \bar{\theta}_b \delta(t_b) \Gamma_R^*(t_a, t_b)\right] \,,$$

$$\mathcal{K}_{\sigma\tau}(a, b) = -\Gamma_{\sigma\tau}(a, b) + \nu(a)\delta_{\sigma\tau}(a, b) \,.$$
(96)

We choose as an overall convention that the argument indicates if we are considering a superfield or a scalar, for instance $\mathbf{X}(a)$ or $\mathbf{X}(t_a)$. We emphasise that the initial condition is implemented here through the SUSY inverse temperature $\beta(a)$, the Lagrange multiplier $\nu(a)$ and the superkernel $\Gamma_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$. Moreover the latter contains both the friction and noise kernels of the model, so that combined with the Lagrange multiplier into the kinetic superkernel $\mathcal{K}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$ it allows to rewrite the first line of Eq. (94) in a quadratic form, diagonal in the replica indices. Indeed, we have that

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\tau=1}^{n} \int dadb \, \Gamma_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(b)$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \int_{0}^{\infty} dt' \left[\frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{C}(t,t') i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \cdot i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t') + \partial_{t'} \Gamma_{R}(t,t') i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t') \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t,0) i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(0) , \tag{97}$$

and

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\tau=1}^{n} \int da db \, \nu(a) \delta_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \, \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(b) = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt_{a} \, \left[\hat{\nu}(t_{a}) + \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t_{a},t_{a}) \right] \, i \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t_{a}) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t_{a}) \\
- \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \beta_{g} \lambda \, \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(0)^{2} .$$
(98)

Combining these last two contributions and defining moreover

$$Q_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) = \frac{1}{N} \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(b)$$
(99)

and $\mathbf{Q} = \{Q_{\sigma\tau}\}_{\sigma,\tau=1...n}$, we can finally rewrite the dynamical action in Eq. (93) as an extensive function in N:

$$\int \left(\prod_{\sigma=1}^{n} \mathcal{D} \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t) \mathcal{D} \hat{\mathbf{X}}^{(\sigma)}(t) \right) e^{S_{\text{dyn}}} = \int \mathcal{D} \mathbf{Q} e^{NS(\mathbf{Q})}$$

$$S(\mathbf{Q}) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\tau=1}^{n} \int da db \, \mathcal{K}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) Q_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) + \frac{1}{2} \log \det \mathbf{Q} + \alpha \log \mathcal{Z}(\mathbf{Q})$$
(100)

where the log det **Q** term comes from the change of variable from $\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a)$ to $\mathbf{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$ [35], and

$$\alpha \log \mathcal{Z}(\mathbf{Q}) \stackrel{(94)}{=} \frac{1}{N} \log \exp \left\{ -\sum_{\mu=1}^{M} \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \left[\int da \, \beta(a) \, v \left(\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a) \cdot \mathbf{F}^{\mu} - w \right) \right] \right\}. \tag{101}$$

The disorder average over the Gaussian random constraints can be taken explicitly, following the same steps as in the static case [35], so that we obtain

$$\mathcal{Z}(\mathbf{Q}) = \int \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{r} \, \Psi(\mathbf{r}) , \quad \text{with} \quad \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{r} \propto \mathcal{D} \mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\tau=1}^{n} \int \mathrm{d}a \mathrm{d}b \, r_{\sigma}(a) Q_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}(a,b) r_{\tau}(b)\right\} \\ \Psi(\mathbf{r}) = \exp\left\{-\sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int \mathrm{d}a \beta(a) \, v \left(r_{\sigma}(a) - w\right)\right\} \end{cases}$$
(102)

the measures $\mathcal{D}_Q \mathbf{r}$ and $\mathcal{D} \mathbf{r}$ summing over all the histories of the n replicas $\mathbf{r} = \{r_1, \dots, r_n\}$ and the measure $\mathcal{D}_Q \mathbf{r}$ being normalised to 1. This is the first occurrence in this SUSY derivation of what looks like the effective stochastic process we are aiming at, expressed here in terms of the SUSY and replicated reduced gap $r_{\sigma}(a) = r_{\sigma}(t_a) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t_a)$. Beware that from now on, r will denote this SUSY variable r(a), except if specified otherwise through its argument $r(t_a)$. For the time-being it has been introduced as a mathematical trick in order to treat the disorder average in Eq. (101), but we can already define its corresponding statistical average:

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(r_{\sigma}) \rangle_{\mathbf{r}} = \frac{\int \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{r} \, \mathcal{O}(r_{\sigma}) \, \Psi(\mathbf{r})}{\int \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{r} \, \Psi(\mathbf{r})} \,.$$
 (103)

We emphasise moreover that in the dynamical action, the terms that are *not* diagonal in the replica indices (σ, τ) are on the one hand $\frac{1}{2} \log \det \mathbf{Q}$ and on the other hand the effective dynamical partition function $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbf{Q})$ associated to the measure $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Q}}\mathbf{r}$.

3. Saddle-point equation

We have thus reformulated the dynamical action as $S_{\text{dyn}}(\mathbf{Q}) = NS(\mathbf{Q})$ with Eqs. (93), (100) and (102), making use of the SUSY representation. Because $S_{\text{dyn}}(\mathbf{Q})$ is given by N times a function of a finite number of degrees of freedom, the large-N limit we are interested in is controlled by the saddle-point value of $S(\mathbf{Q})$:

$$1 = Z_{\text{dyn}} = \int \mathcal{D}\mathbf{Q} \, e^{NS(\mathbf{Q})} \stackrel{(N \to \infty)}{\sim} e^{NS(\widetilde{\mathbf{Q}})} \quad \text{with} \quad \frac{\delta S(\mathbf{Q})}{\delta Q_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)} \Big|_{\mathbf{Q} = \widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}} = 0 \,. \tag{104}$$

We emphasise the physical interpretation of this saddle-point solution, as the mean-field prediction given by the thermodynamic limit of Eq. (99):

$$\widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a) \cdot \mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(b) \right\rangle. \tag{105}$$

The saddle-point equation that gives $\widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$ is directly obtained from Eq. (100) with functional derivatives:

$$0 = -\mathcal{K}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) + Q_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}(a,b) + \frac{2\alpha}{\mathcal{Z}(\mathbf{Q})} \frac{\delta \mathcal{Z}(\mathbf{Q})}{\delta Q_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)}.$$
 (106)

Moreover from Eqs. (102)-(103) we deduce [18]

$$\frac{2\alpha}{\mathcal{Z}(\mathbf{Q})} \frac{\delta \mathcal{Z}(\mathbf{Q})}{\delta Q_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)} = \beta(a)\beta(b)\alpha \left\langle v'(r_{\sigma}(a) - w)v'(r_{\tau}(b) - w) \right\rangle_{r} - \beta(a)\alpha \left\langle v''(r_{\sigma}(a) - w) \right\rangle_{r} \delta_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$$

$$\equiv \beta(a)\beta(b) M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) - \beta(a) \delta\nu_{\sigma}(a) \delta_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) , \tag{107}$$

with the following definitions

$$M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) = \alpha \left\langle v'(r_{\sigma}(a) - w)v'(r_{\tau}(b) - w) \right\rangle_{r},$$

$$\delta\nu_{\sigma}(a) = \alpha \left\langle v''(r_{\sigma}(a) - w) \right\rangle_{r},$$
(108)

where $M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$ is the memory superkernel and $\delta\nu_{\sigma}(a)$ a correction to the Lagrange multiplier. Therefore we obtain that the saddle-point $\widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$ must satisfy the equation:

$$\widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}(a,b) = \mathcal{K}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) + \beta(a)\,\delta\nu_{\sigma}(a)\,\delta_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) - \beta(a)\beta(b)\,M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \equiv \mathcal{L}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) - \beta(a)\beta(b)\,M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)\,\,,\tag{109}$$

where we have separated from the memory superkernel the contribution:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \equiv \mathcal{K}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) + \beta(a)\,\delta\nu_{\sigma}(a)\,\delta_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \stackrel{(96)}{=} -\Gamma_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) + [\nu(a) + \beta(a)\,\delta\nu_{\sigma}(a)]\,\delta_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) , \qquad (110)$$

diagonal in the replica indices, because it includes explicitly $\delta_{\sigma\tau}$.

The saddle-point solution given by Eqs. (109)-(110) has two complementary consequences. The first one is the following closure relation:

$$\delta_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) = \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \int dc \, \widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\gamma}^{-1}(a,c) \widetilde{Q}_{\gamma\tau}(c,b)$$

$$= -\sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \int dc \, \left[\Gamma_{\sigma\gamma}(a,c) + \beta(a)\beta(c) M_{\sigma\gamma}(a,c) \right] \widetilde{Q}_{\gamma\tau}(c,b) + \left[\nu(a) + \beta(a)\delta\nu_{\sigma}(a) \right] \widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) .$$
(111)

The second one is that the average $\langle \mathcal{O}(r_{\sigma}) \rangle_{\mathbf{r}}$ is given in the large-N limit by substituting $\mathbf{Q} = \widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}$, given by Eq. (109), into the measure $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Q}}\mathbf{r}$ of Eq. (103):

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}(r_{\sigma})\right\rangle_{\mathbf{r}} = \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\mathbf{r} \,\mathcal{O}(r_{\sigma}) \,e^{S_{\text{eff}}}}{\int \mathcal{D}\mathbf{r} \,e^{S_{\text{eff}}}},$$

$$S_{\text{eff}}(r_{1}, \dots, r_{n}) \equiv -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma, \tau=1}^{n} \int \mathrm{d}a \mathrm{d}b \,r_{\sigma}(a) \left[\mathcal{L}_{\sigma\tau}(a, b) - \beta(a)\beta(b)M_{\sigma\tau}(a, b)\right] r_{\tau}(b) - \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int \mathrm{d}a \,\beta(a) \,v\left(r_{\sigma}(a) - w\right).$$
(112)

We immediately see that the nontrivial part of this saddle-point solution will be the self-consistent determination of the memory superkernel (108), in the same spirit as pointed out in Sec. III.

The two equations (111)-(112) are the large-N dynamical equations in SUSY form, along with the different definitions for $\{\beta(a), \nu(a), \Gamma_{\sigma\tau}(a,b), \mathcal{K}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b), Q_{\sigma\tau}(a,b), M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b), \delta\nu_{\sigma}(a), \widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b), \mathcal{L}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)\}$ given respectively in Eqs. (96), (99), (108), (109) and (110). Note that only $M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$ and $\widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$ have non-zero contributions for different replicas $\sigma \neq \tau$. In Sec. IV C we will derive the dynamical equations for the correlation and response functions from Eq. (111). But before, in the next section we will deduce the effective stochastic process corresponding to Eq. (112).

B. Self-consistent effective stochastic process

The starting point of the SUSY path-integral formulation is the Langevin dynamics and its initial condition encoded in $Z_{\rm dyn}=1$ in Eq. (86). Now that we have successfully performed the averages over noise and disorder to obtain the effective action $S_{\rm eff}$ in Eq. (112), we want to go the other way around and determine its corresponding effective dynamics on r(t). Our aim is to show that the average over $\bf r$ with the effective action $S_{\rm eff}$ can be represented, as for the original average, into an average over some effective stochastic process with a thermal noise independent for each replica, denoted by $\langle \cdots \rangle$, followed by an average over a disorder, denoted by $\overline{\cdots}$, that couples different replicas.

To this aim, we will first make some general remarks on the structure of the replica-SUSY correlator, and then use this structure to simplify the effective action S_{eff} . Finally we will show that S_{eff} can be represented by an effective stochastic process as stated above.

1. Structure of the replica-SUSY correlators

We start with some preliminary remarks. For a given replica σ and an analytic function f(r), we have in the MSRJD formalism [59] that:

$$\langle f(r_{\sigma}(t)) i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t) \rangle_{\mathbf{r}} = 0, \quad \langle f(r_{\sigma}(t)) f(r_{\sigma}(t')) i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t) i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t') \rangle_{\mathbf{r}} = 0.$$
 (113)

As for a pair of distinct replicas $\sigma \neq \tau$, we have in the initial dynamics Eq. (3) that the replicas are uncorrelated at fixed disorder, so that we have $\overline{\langle f(\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t))f(\mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(t'))\rangle} = \overline{\langle f(\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t))\rangle\langle f(\mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(t'))\rangle}$. As a consequence of this and Eq. (113), an average of the form

$$\overline{\langle f(\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a))f(\mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(b))\rangle} = \overline{\langle f(\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(a))\rangle \langle f(\mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(b))\rangle} = \overline{\langle f(\mathbf{X}^{(\sigma)}(t_a))\rangle \langle f(\mathbf{X}^{(\tau)}(t_b))\rangle}$$
(114)

with $\sigma \neq \tau$ has no terms associated to the Grassman variables θ_a and θ_b . In particular, this implies, according to Eq. (105), that for $\sigma \neq \tau$, $\widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) = \widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(t_a,t_b)$, and using Eq. (111) one can check that the same is true for the memory function, i.e. $M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) = M_{\sigma\tau}(t_a,t_b)$ for $\sigma \neq \tau$. The diagonal term instead has terms associated to the Grassman variables, but due to Eq. (113), the term with four Grassman variables $\theta_a\bar{\theta}_a\theta_b\bar{\theta}_b$ vanishes.

Using these properties, and recalling that we will ultimately replace the average $\langle \cdots \rangle_{\mathbf{r}}$ by a double average $\overline{\langle \cdots \rangle}$, where $\langle \cdots \rangle$ is done independently for each replica, we can make explicit first the memory superkernel

$$M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \stackrel{(108)}{=} \left[M_C(t_a,t_b) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a M_R(t_b,t_a) + \theta_b \bar{\theta}_b M_R(t_a,t_b) \right] \delta_{\sigma\tau} + M_d(t_a,t_b) (1 - \delta_{\sigma\tau})$$

$$= \left[M_C^{(c)}(t_a,t_b) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a M_R(t_b,t_a) + \theta_b \bar{\theta}_b M_R(t_a,t_b) \right] \delta_{\sigma\tau} + M_d(t_a,t_b)$$

$$\equiv \mathcal{M}(a,b) \delta_{\sigma\tau} + M_d(t_a,t_b) ,$$

$$M_C(t,t') \equiv \alpha \overline{\left\langle v' \left(r_\sigma(t) - w \right) v' \left(r_\sigma(t') - w \right) \right\rangle} = M_C(t',t) ,$$

$$M_d(t,t') \equiv \alpha \overline{\left\langle v' \left(r_\sigma(t) - w \right) \right\rangle}_r \overline{\left\langle v' \left(r_\tau(t') - w \right) \right\rangle} = M_d(t',t) ,$$

$$M_R(t,t') \equiv \alpha \overline{\left\langle v' \left(r_\sigma(t) - w \right) v'' \left(r_\sigma(t') - w \right) i \hat{r}_\sigma(t') \right\rangle} ,$$

$$M_C^{(c)}(t,t') \equiv M_C(t,t') - M_d(t,t') ,$$

$$(115)$$

and secondly the correction to the Lagrange multiplier

$$\delta\nu_{\sigma}(a) \stackrel{(108)}{=} \alpha \left\langle v''(r_{\sigma}(a) - w) \right\rangle_{\mathbf{r}} = \alpha \overline{\left\langle v''(r_{\sigma}(t_a) - w) \right\rangle} = \delta\nu(t_a) , \qquad (116)$$

where we have also dropped the replica index using the replica symmetry, that is a consequence of our choice of replica symmetric initial condition. Note that Eqs. (115)-(116) are strongly reminiscent (on purpose) of the definitions (64) given in Sec. III D. We emphasise moreover that by causality, we have in fact $M_R(t,t') \propto \theta(t-t')$ in the MSRJD formalism.

2. Structure of the effective action

We now recall that the initial condition is encoded in our SUSY representation into $\beta(a)$, $\nu(a)$ and $\Gamma_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$ given in Eq. (96). Defining

$$\nu_0(t) = \hat{\nu}(t) + \Gamma_R^*(t, t) + \delta\nu(t) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \nu(a) + \delta\nu(a) = \nu_0(t_a) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a \beta_a \lambda \delta(t_a) \,, \tag{117}$$

we can now write explicitly the three contributions to the effective action $S_{\rm eff}$: (i) a pure dynamical part oblivious of the initial condition, (ii) a dynamical part which remembers the initial condition, and (iii) the part encoding the distribution of the stochastic initial condition. Indeed, we obtain with some additional manipulations that $S_{\rm eff} = S_{\rm eff}^{(t)} + S_{\rm eff}^{(t,0)} + S_{\rm eff}^{(0)}$ with

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(t)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\tau=1}^{n} \int dadb \, r_{\sigma}(a) r_{\tau}(b) \, \left\{ \delta_{\sigma\tau} \left[\hat{\Gamma}(a,b) - \nu_{0}(t_{a}) \delta(a,b) \right] + M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \right\} - \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int da \, v \left(r_{\sigma}(a) - w \right) \,,$$

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(t,0)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\tau=1}^{n} \int dadb \, r_{\sigma}(a) r_{\tau}(b) \, \left\{ \delta_{\sigma\tau} \left[\theta_{a} \bar{\theta}_{a} \, \delta(t_{a}) \, \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t_{b},t_{a}) + \theta_{b} \bar{\theta}_{b} \, \delta(t_{b}) \, \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t_{a},t_{b}) \right] \right.$$

$$\left. + \left[\theta_{a} \bar{\theta}_{a} \, \delta(t_{a}) + \theta_{b} \bar{\theta}_{b} \, \delta(t_{b}) \right] \, \beta_{g} M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \right\} \,, \tag{118}$$

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\tau=1}^{n} \int dadb \, r_{\sigma}(a) r_{\tau}(b) \, \theta_{a} \bar{\theta}_{a} \, \theta_{b} \bar{\theta}_{b} \, \left[-\delta_{\sigma\tau} \, \beta_{g} \left(\lambda + \delta\nu(0) \right) \, \delta(t_{a} - t_{b}) \, \delta(t_{a}) + \beta_{g}^{2} \, \delta(t_{a}) \delta(t_{b}) \, M_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \right]$$

$$- \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int da \, \theta_{a} \bar{\theta}_{a} \, \beta_{g} \, \delta(t_{a}) \, v \left(r_{\sigma}(a) - w \right) \,. \tag{118}$$

Using the replica-symmetric ansatz (115) for the memory superkernel (recall that we focus on the regime where the initial condition has a single pure state), we can develop the SUSY formalism to write these expressions in terms of the original variables and obtain

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(t)} = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t) \, \left\{ \int_{0}^{\infty} dt' \, \left[\partial_{t'} \Gamma_{R}(t, t') + M_{R}(t, t') \right] \, r_{\sigma}(t') - \nu_{0}(t) \, r_{\sigma}(t) - v' \, \left(r_{\sigma}(t) - w \right) \right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \int_{0}^{\infty} dt' \, \frac{1}{2} \left[\Gamma_{C}(t, t') + M_{C}^{(c)}(t, t') \right] \, i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t) \, i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t')$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \int_{0}^{\infty} dt' \, \left(\sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t) \right) M_{d}(t, t') \left(\sum_{\tau=1}^{n} i \hat{r}_{\tau}(t') \right) \, ,$$

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(t,0)} = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t) \, \left[\Gamma_{R}^{*}(t, 0) + \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(t, 0) \right] r_{\sigma}(0) + \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \left(\sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} i \hat{r}_{\sigma}(t) \right) \, \beta_{g} M_{d}(t, 0) \, \left(\sum_{\tau=1}^{n} r_{\tau}(0) \right) \, ,$$

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(0)} = -\frac{\beta_{g}}{2} \left(\lambda + \delta \nu(0) - \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(0, 0) \right) \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} r_{\sigma}(0)^{2} - \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \beta_{g} \, v \, \left(r_{\sigma}(0) - w \right) + \frac{\beta_{g}^{2}}{2} M_{d}(0, 0) \, \left(\sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} r_{\sigma}(0) \right)^{2} \, .$$

3. Effective process

We finally want to show that the time-dependent effective action $S_{\rm eff}^{(t)}+S_{\rm eff}^{(t,0)}$, written as in Eq. (119), can be derived from an effective Langevin dynamics in which each replica $\sigma=1,\ldots,n$ evolves independently in presence of its own thermal noise, $\zeta_{\sigma}(t)$, and of another independent noise $\zeta_d(t)$, common to all replicas, that represents the disorder. We now introduce this effective process, and show that it leads to the same effective dynamical action as in Eq. (119).

We define the effective Langevin equation

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' \Gamma_{R}(t,t') \dot{r}_{\sigma}(t') = \int_{0}^{t} dt' M_{R}(t,t') r_{\sigma}(t') - \left[\underbrace{\hat{\nu}(t) + \delta\nu(t)}_{=\hat{\nu}(t)} - \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(t,0) \right] r_{\sigma}(t) - v' \left(r_{\sigma}(t) - w \right) + \zeta_{d}(t) + \zeta_{\sigma}(t) ,$$

$$\overline{\zeta_{d}(t)} = 0 , \quad \overline{\zeta_{d}(t)\zeta_{d}(t')} = M_{d}(t,t') ,$$

$$\langle \zeta_{\sigma}(t) \rangle = 0 , \quad \langle \zeta_{\sigma}(t)\zeta_{\tau}(t') \rangle = \delta_{\sigma\tau} \left[\Gamma_{C}(t,t') + M_{C}^{(c)}(t,t') \right] ,$$
(120)

which is as expected the same effective noise and dynamics given in Sec. III D, specifically in Eq. (59). Note that we used the definition of $\nu_0(t)$ of Eq. (117), and then performed an integration by part on $\partial_{t'}\Gamma_R(t,t')$ to get back the original friction term, and eliminate the term $\Gamma_R^*(t,t)$ that appears in $\nu_0(t)$. We can thus notice that the distinction between the singular and regular

part of the friction kernel $\Gamma_R(t,t')$ is not relevant here, as expected. It is straightforward to show, by computing the MSRJD action starting from this effective process, following the same derivation steps as from Eq. (90), that one recovers $S_{\text{eff}}^{(t)} + S_{\text{eff}}^{(t,0)}$, as written as in Eq. (119).

As for the initial condition encoded in $S_{\text{eff}}^{(0)}$, it also coincides with Eq. (62) obtained in Sec. III D. Once again, the most straightforward way to convince oneself that this is the case is to start from Eq. (62) obtained by the cavity. Introducing replicas there in order to average over the 'disorder' $\zeta_d(0)$, we obtain:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} dr(0) \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\zeta_{d}(0) \, \mathcal{P}\left(\zeta_{d}(0)\right) \, \mathcal{P}\left(r(0)|\zeta_{d}(0)\right) \\
\stackrel{(62)}{=} \lim_{n \to 0} \int \left(\prod_{\sigma=1}^{n} dr_{\sigma}(0)\right) \exp\left\{-\sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\sigma}(0)^{2}}{2(1-q_{g})} - \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \beta_{g} v\left(r_{\sigma}(0) - w\right)\right\} \times \exp\left(\beta_{g} \zeta_{d}(0) \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} r_{\sigma}(0)\right) \\
= \lim_{n \to 0} \int \left(\prod_{\sigma=1}^{n} dr_{\sigma}(0)\right) \exp\left\{-\sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\sigma}(0)^{2}}{2(1-q_{g})} - \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} \beta_{g} v\left(r_{\sigma}(0) - w\right) + \frac{1}{2}\beta_{g}^{2} \frac{q_{g}}{(1-q_{g})^{2}} \left(\sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} r_{\sigma}(0)\right)^{2}\right\} \\
= \lim_{n \to 0} \int \left(\prod_{\sigma=1}^{n} dr_{\sigma}(0)\right) e^{S_{\text{eff}}^{(0)}}, \tag{121}$$

where we used for the last step the results in Sec. III C from the static cavity method, specifically Eqs. (49), (54) and (55): $1/(1-q_g) = \beta_g \tilde{\lambda} = \beta_g \left(\lambda + \delta\nu(0) - \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(0,0)\right) \text{ and } q_g/(1-q_g)^2 = M_d(0,0).$ In summary, we have recovered via the saddle-point solution of the MSRJD action the same effective stochastic process as

In summary, we have recovered via the saddle-point solution of the MSRJD action the same effective stochastic process as from the dynamical cavity method. Physically what we did was to reformulate a problem of N degrees of freedom $\mathbf{X}(t)$ in a quenched disorder $\{\mathbf{F}_{\mu}\}$ with the dynamical partition function

$$Z_{\text{dyn}} = \lim_{n \to 0} \left\langle \int \mathcal{D}\mathbf{X}(t) Z(\beta_g)^{n-1} e^{-\beta_g \hat{\mathcal{H}}\left(\mathbf{X}(0)\right)} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \delta \left(\int_0^t ds \, \Gamma_R(t,s) \, \dot{x}_i(s) - \hat{\nu}(t) \, x_i(t) - \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}\left(\mathbf{X}(t)\right)}{\delta x_i(t)} + \eta_i(t) \right) \right\rangle$$
(122)

into a problem of a single-variable effective stochastic process capturing the mean-field properties in the thermodynamic limit:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} Z_{\text{dyn}} = \lim_{n \to 0} \left\langle \int \mathcal{D}\mathbf{r}(t) \, e^{\left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \left(\lambda + \delta \nu(0) - \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(0,0) \right) \sum_{\sigma=1}^n r_{\sigma}(0)^2 - \sum_{\sigma=1}^n \beta_g v(r_{\sigma}(0) - w) - \beta_g \zeta_d(0) \sum_{\sigma=1}^n r_{\sigma}(0) \right\}} \right. \\
\times \prod_{\sigma=1}^n \delta \left(-\int_0^\infty dt' \, \Gamma_R(t,t') \dot{r}_{\sigma}(t') - \left(\hat{\nu}(t) + \delta \nu(t) \right) r_{\sigma}(t) - v'(r_{\sigma}(t) - w) + \zeta_d(t) + \zeta_{\sigma}(t) \right. \\
\left. + \beta_g M_C^{(c)}(t,0) \, r_{\sigma}(0) + \int_0^\infty dt' \, M_R(t,t') \, r_{\sigma}(t') \right) \right\rangle .$$
(123)

The interaction of the initial degrees of freedom with the initial quenched disorder has thus been replaced by the different memory kernel defined in Eq. (115), as well as the correction $\delta\nu(t)$ defined in Eq. (116), the Lagrange multipliers $\hat{\nu}(t)$ and $\lambda = \hat{\nu}(0)$.

C. Dynamical equations for the correlation and response functions

Having recovered the same effective stochastic process as in Sec. III D, we finally need to derive the dynamical equations for the correlation and response functions, as well as for the Lagrange multiplier. These can be found starting from the closure relation Eq. (111).

Similarly to the memory superkernel in Eq. (115), we can use the following replica-symmetric (RS) ansatz for the saddle-point equation:

$$\widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) = \underbrace{\left[C(t_a,t_b) + \theta_a \bar{\theta}_a R(t_b,t_a) + \theta_b \bar{\theta}_b R(t_a,t_b)\right]}_{\equiv \widehat{Q}(a,b)} \delta_{\sigma\tau} + (1 - \delta_{\sigma\tau}) C_d(t_a,t_b)$$
(124)

and we will treat separately the scalar, $\theta_a \bar{\theta}_a$ and $\theta_b \bar{\theta}_b$ contributions of the following SUSY equation that derives from Eq. (111):

$$(\theta_{a}\bar{\theta}_{a} + \theta_{b}\bar{\theta}_{b}) \,\delta_{\sigma\tau} \,\delta(t_{a} - t_{b}) = -\sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \int dc \, \left\{ \hat{\Gamma}(a,c) \,\delta_{\sigma\gamma} + \mathcal{M}(a,c) \,\delta_{\sigma\gamma} + M_{d}(t_{a},t_{c}) \right\} \, \widetilde{Q}_{\gamma\tau}(c,b)$$

$$+ \left[\hat{\nu}(t_{a}) + \delta\nu(t_{a}) + \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t_{a},t_{a}) \right] \, \widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b)$$

$$- \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \int dc \, \left[\theta_{a}\bar{\theta}_{a} \,\delta(t_{a}) \,\Gamma_{R}^{*}(t_{c},t_{a}) + \theta_{c}\bar{\theta}_{c} \,\delta(t_{c}) \,\Gamma_{R}^{*}(t_{a},t_{c}) \right] \, \delta_{\sigma\gamma} \, \widetilde{Q}_{\gamma\tau}(c,b)$$

$$- \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \int dc \, \left[\theta_{a}\bar{\theta}_{a} \,\delta(t_{a}) + \theta_{c}\bar{\theta}_{c} \,\delta(t_{c}) \right] \, \beta_{g} \, \left[\mathcal{M}(a,c) \,\delta_{\sigma\gamma} + \mathcal{M}_{d}(t_{a},t_{c}) \right] \, \widetilde{Q}_{\gamma\tau}(c,b)$$

$$- \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \int dc \, \theta_{a}\bar{\theta}_{a} \,\theta_{c}\bar{\theta}_{c} \,\delta(t_{a}) \,\delta(t_{c}) \, \beta_{g}^{2} \, \left[\mathcal{M}_{C}^{(c)}(0,0) \,\delta_{\sigma\gamma} + \mathcal{M}_{d}(0,0) \right] \, \widetilde{Q}_{\gamma\tau}(c,b)$$

$$+ \theta_{a}\bar{\theta}_{a} \,\delta(t_{a}) \, \beta_{g}(\lambda + \delta\nu(0)) \, \widetilde{Q}_{\sigma\tau}(a,b) \, .$$

$$(125)$$

Starting from the scalar case, we obtain a first equation for $\sigma = \tau$:

$$\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \, \partial_{s} C(t',s) = -\left[\hat{\nu}(t) + \delta\nu(t)\right] \, C(t,t') + \int_{0}^{t'} ds \, \left[\Gamma_{C}(t,s) + M_{C}^{(c)}(t,s) + M_{d}(t,s)\right] \, R(t',s)
+ \int_{0}^{t} ds \, M_{R}(t,s) \, C(t',s) + \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(t,0) \, C(0,t')
+ \beta_{g} M_{d}(t,0) \, \left[C(0,t') + (n-1) \, C_{d}(0,t')\right] ,$$
(126)

and a second equation for $\sigma \neq \tau$:

$$\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \, \partial_{s} C_{d}(t',s) = -\left[\hat{\nu}(t) + \delta \nu(t)\right] \, C_{d}(t,t') + \int_{0}^{t'} ds \, M_{d}(t,s) \, R(t',s)
+ \int_{0}^{t} ds \, M_{R}(t,s) \, C_{d}(t',s) + \beta_{g} M_{C}^{(c)}(t,0) \, C_{d}(0,t')
+ \beta_{g} M_{d}(t,0) \, \left[C(0,t') + (n-1) \, C_{d}(0,t')\right] .$$
(127)

Once we take the limit $n \to 0$, that is required for the computation of $Z_{\rm dyn}$ according to Eq. (90), we recover as expected the same dynamical equations for the correlation functions as via the cavity approach, see Eqs. (69)-(70). Consequently the Lagrange multiplier is given by the same equation as Eq. (72), which was itself deduced from Eq. (69) by imposing that C(t,t)=1. Next, we consider the $\theta_b \bar{\theta}_b$ contribution, recalling that by causality $\Gamma_R^*(t,s) \propto \theta(t-s)$:

$$\left[-\int_{0}^{t} ds \, \partial_{s} \Gamma_{R}(t,s) \, R(s,t') + \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t,t) \, R(t,t') - \Gamma_{R}^{*}(t,0) \, R(0,t') \right] \delta_{\sigma\tau}
= \left\{ \delta(t-t') + \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \, M_{R}(t,s) \, R(s,t') - \left[\hat{\nu}(t) + \delta\nu(t) \right] \, R(t,t') \right\} \delta_{\sigma\tau} + \beta_{g} \left[M_{C}^{(c)}(t,0) \, \delta_{\sigma\tau} + M_{d}(t,0) \right] \, R(0,t') \, .$$
(128)

Note that this equation makes sense only for t > t' > 0, and one can then send $t' \to 0^+$. Hence for different replica indices $\sigma \neq \tau$ we simply have that $\beta_g M_d(t,0) R(0,t') = 0$, because $R(s,t') \propto \theta(s-t')$ by causality. Consequently, also for $\sigma = \tau$ all the terms involving R(0,t') disappear. Integrating by parts the first line, recalling that in the original convention the integrals are intended up to t^+ , we recover as expected the same dynamical equation for the response function as via the cavity method in Eq. (71), for $t \geq t'$:

$$\int_{t'}^{t} ds \, \Gamma_R(t,s) \, \partial_s R(s,t') = \delta(t-t') - \left[\hat{\nu}(t) + \delta\nu(t)\right] \, R(t,t') + \int_{t'}^{t} ds \, M_R(t,s) \, R(s,t') \,. \tag{129}$$

Note that an equation for R(t,t') can be equivalently derived from the $\theta_a\bar{\theta}_a$ contribution; showing that the two equations coincide requires however some manipulations.

In order to make a connection with the dynamical equations given in Ref. [11], we introduce the following notations:

$$\begin{cases} D(t,s) & \equiv \Gamma_C^*(t,s) + M_C^{(c)}(t,s) + M_d(t,s) = \Gamma_C^*(t,s) + M_C(t,s) ,\\ \Sigma(t,s) & \equiv \partial_s \Gamma_R^*(t-s) + M_R(t,s) = -\partial_t \Gamma_R^*(t-s) + M_R(t,s) ,\\ \mu(t) & \equiv \hat{\nu}(t) + \delta \nu(t) + \Gamma_R^*(t,t) = \hat{\nu}(t) + \delta \nu(t) + \Gamma_R^*(0) . \end{cases}$$
(130)

Using these definitions, we can rewrite the set of dynamical equations as

$$\gamma_R \partial_t C(t', t) = \int_0^{t'} ds \, D(t, s) R(t', s) + 2T \gamma_C \, R(t', t) + \int_0^t ds \, \Sigma(t, s) C(t', s) - \mu(t) \, C(t, t')$$

$$+ \left[\beta_g M_C(t, 0) + \Gamma_R^*(t, 0) \right] C(t', 0) - \beta_g M_d(t, 0) C_d(0, t') ,$$
(131)

$$\gamma_R \partial_t C_d(t',t) = \int_0^{t'} ds \, M_d(t,s) R(t',s) + \int_0^t ds \, \Sigma(t,s) C_d(t',s) - \mu(t) \, C(dt,t') \\
+ \left[\beta_g M_C^{(c)}(t,0) + \Gamma_R^*(t,0) \right] C_d(t',0) + \beta_g M_d(t,0) \left[C(0,t') - C_d(0,t') \right] ,$$
(132)

$$\gamma_R \partial_t R(t', t) = \delta(t - t') + \int_{t'}^t \mathrm{d}s \, \Sigma(t, s) R(s, t') - \mu(t) \, R(t, t') \,, \tag{133}$$

$$\mu(t) = \int_0^t ds \left[D(t, s) R(s, t) + \Sigma(t, s) C(s, t) \right] - \gamma_R \partial_t C(t, t^+)$$

$$+ \left[\beta_g M_C(t, 0) + \Gamma_R^*(t, 0) \right] C(t, 0) - \beta_g M_d(t, 0) C_d(t, 0) .$$
(134)

Compared to the dynamical equations for the driven p-spin presented in Ref. [11], these equations present additional terms due to the memory of the initial condition, along with the expressions of the memory kernels and $\delta\nu(t)$ which differ of course between the driven perceptron and the driven p-spin.

This concludes our alternative derivation of the effective stochastic process and dynamical equations for the thermodynamic limit of the perceptron model, obtained here via the saddle point of the SUSY path integral and previously via the cavity method.

V. CONCLUSIONS

In this paper, we have derived the dynamical mean field equations that describe the Langevin dynamics for the random continuous perceptron model. We have used two distinct approaches. First we have developed a dynamical cavity approach to construct the single-variable effective process from which we extracted the equations for the correlations and response functions. Second we have developed a path integral approach in its supersymmetric formalism and we have shown that it leads to the same results as the cavity method. The final effective process is a stochastic equation with memory and correlated Gaussian noise that must be determined self-consistently.

This work paves the way to several further developments. Here we list a few of them.

- The dynamical cavity method could be used to give a more straightforward derivation of the dynamics of sphere systems in high dimensions [17, 18]. A first attempt in this direction has been made in Ref. [20]. However in that work, the equivalent of Eq. (30) was not fully derived microscopically. This is an important missing step that remains to be made, and our results could provide useful inspiration.
- The solution we have developed is very general. In particular it includes the possibility to have an active drive in the dynamics. This could be useful to study with a purely microscopic approach simple models of active matter and in particular how the active drive interplays with structural or quenched disorder [11].
- In neural neworks the construction of the solution of optimal synaptic weights is made using a series of algorithmic procedures that aim at minimising the loss function or Hamiltonian. In this paper we have analyzed the simplest algorithm to find local optimisers that is a simple gradient descent (in presence or not of stochastic noise). It could be interesting to investigate how this approach, especially in its cavity version, can be developed to study more complicated minimization algorithms.
- The perceptron model is a general model for glasses. In addition it includes a jamming transition. The critical dynamics close to jamming has never been studied analytically, but many numerical results are available [23–26]. The methods developed here could be used to analytically reproduce at least part of these results. Moreover, the aging dynamics in the vicinity of jamming could be somewhat different from the standard solution of aging in disordered spin glass models [8], because the vicinity to an isostatic point could strongly affect the response of the system to abrupt changes in the external parameters [62].

Finally we note that the cavity approach we have developed can be used to study analytically the molecular dynamics version of the model [63]. Indeed it is quite straightforward to switch off the thermal noise and introduce an inertial term in the dynamical equations (of the type of $m\ddot{x}_i$). The equations for the final effective stochastic process can be obtained using the same steps we described in this work. This corresponds to study molecular dynamics with a stochasticity included in the initial conditions.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Jorge Kurchan, Thibaud Maimbourg and Grzegorz Szamel for fruitful discussions related to this work. This work was supported by a grant from the Simons Foundation (#454935, Giulio Biroli; #454955, Francesco Zamponi), and by "Investissements d'Avenir" LabEx PALM (ANR-10-LABX-0039-PALM) (Pierfrancesco Urbani).

- [1] J.-P. Bouchaud, L. F. Cugliandolo, J. Kurchan, and M. Mézard, in *Spin Glasses And Random Fields*, edited by A. Young (World Scientific, 1997), arXiv:cond-mat/9702070.
- [2] L. F. Cugliandolo, in Slow Relaxations and nonequilibrium dynamics in condensed matter (Springer, 2003), arXiv:cond-mat/0210312.
- [3] T. Castellani and A. Cavagna, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2005, P05012 (2005).
- [4] H. Sompolinsky and A. Zippelius, Physical Review Letters 47, 359 (1981).
- [5] T. R. Kirkpatrick and P. G. Wolynes, Physical Review A 35, 3072 (1987).
- [6] T. R. Kirkpatrick and D. Thirumalai, Physical Review Letters 58, 2091 (1987).
- [7] T. R. Kirkpatrick and D. Thirumalai, Physical Review A 37, 4439 (1988).
- [8] L. F. Cugliandolo and J. Kurchan, Physical Review Letters 71, 173 (1993).
- [9] L. Cugliandolo and J. Kurchan, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 27, 5749 (1994).
- [10] L. Berthier, J.-L. Barrat, and J. Kurchan, Physical Review E 61, 5464 (2000).
- [11] L. Berthier and J. Kurchan, Nature Physics 9, 310 (2013).
- [12] T. R. Kirkpatrick, D. Thirumalai, and P. G. Wolynes, Physical Review A 40, 1045 (1989).
- [13] A. Cavagna, Physics Reports 476, 51 (2009).
- [14] L. Berthier and G. Biroli, Review of Modern Physics 83, 587 (2011).
- [15] P. Wolynes and V. Lubchenko, eds., Structural Glasses and Supercooled Liquids: Theory, Experiment, and Applications (Wiley, 2012).
- [16] D. R. Reichman and P. Charbonneau, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2005, P05013 (2005).
- [17] T. Maimbourg, J. Kurchan, and F. Zamponi, Physical Review Letters 116, 015902 (2016).
- [18] J. Kurchan, T. Maimbourg, and F. Zamponi, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2016, 033210 (2016).
- [19] P. Charbonneau, J. Kurchan, G. Parisi, P. Urbani, and F. Zamponi, Annual Review Condensed Matter Physics 8, 265 (2017).
- [20] G. Szamel, arXiv:1705.00036 (2017).
- [21] L. Berthier, Physical Review letters 112, 220602 (2014).
- [22] E. Flenner, G. Szamel, and L. Berthier, Soft Matter 12, 7136 (2016).
- [23] P. Olsson and S. Teitel, Physical Review Letters 99, 178001 (2007).
- [24] P. Olsson, Physical Review E 81, 040301 (2010).
- [25] E. DeGiuli, G. Düring, E. Lerner, and M. Wyart, Physical Review E 91, 062206 (2015).
- [26] T. Kawasaki, D. Coslovich, A. Ikeda, and L. Berthier, Physical Review E 91, 012203 (2015).
- [27] A. Ikeda, L. Berthier, and P. Sollich, Soft Matter 9, 7669 (2013).
- [28] M. Fuchs and M. E. Cates, Physical Review Letters 89, 248304 (2002).
- [29] J. M. Brader, T. Voigtmann, M. Fuchs, R. G. Larson, and M. E. Cates, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106, 15186 (2009).
- [30] G. Szamel, Physical Review E 93, 012603 (2016).
- [31] A. Latz, Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter 12, 6353 (2000).
- [32] A. Ikeda and L. Berthier, Physical Review E 88, 052305 (2013).
- [33] S. Franz and G. Parisi, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 49, 145001 (2016).
- [34] S. Franz, G. Parisi, P. Urbani, and F. Zamponi, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112, 14539 (2015).
- [35] S. Franz, G. Parisi, M. Sevelev, P. Urbani, and F. Zamponi, SciPost Physics 2, 019 (2017).
- [36] F. Rosenblatt, Psychological Review 65, 386 (1958).
- [37] H. Nishimori, Statistical physics of spin glasses and information processing: an introduction, vol. 111 (Clarendon Press, 2001).
- [38] Y. LeCun, Y. Bengio, and G. Hinton, Nature 521, 436 (2015).
- [39] E. Gardner, Journal of physics A: Mathematical and general 21, 257 (1988).
- [40] E. Gardner and B. Derrida, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and general 21, 271 (1988).
- [41] P. Charbonneau, J. Kurchan, G. Parisi, P. Urbani, and F. Zamponi, Nature communications 5 (2014).
- [42] M. Tikhonov and R. Monasson, Physical Review Letters 118, 048103 (2017).
- [43] M. Mézard, G. Parisi, and M. A. Virasoro, Spin glass theory and beyond (World Scientific, Singapore, 1987).
- [44] P. C. Martin, E. Siggia, and H. Rose, Physical Review A 8, 423 (1973).
- [45] H.-K. Janssen, Zeitschrift für Physik B Condensed Matter 23, 377 (1976).
- [46] C. De Dominicis, Physical Review B 18, 4913 (1978).
- [47] J. Kurchan, Journal de Physique I 2, 1333 (1992).
- [48] A. Georges, G. Kotliar, W. Krauth, and M. J. Rozenberg, Reviews of Modern Physics 68, 13 (1996).
- [49] F. Zamponi, F. Bonetto, L. F. Cugliandolo, and J. Kurchan, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment **2005**, P09013 (2005).
- [50] M. Mézard, G. Parisi, and M. Virasoro, Europhysics Letters 1, 77 (1986).
- [51] M. Mézard and G. Parisi, The European Physical Journal B-Condensed Matter and Complex Systems 20, 217 (2001).

- [52] M. Mezard and A. Montanari, Information, physics, and computation (Oxford University Press, 2009).
- [53] L. Zdeborová and F. Krzakala, Advances in Physics 65, 453 (2016).
- [54] A. Altieri, S. Franz, and G. Parisi, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2016, 093301 (2016).
- [55] M. Mézard, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 22, 2181 (1989).
- [56] F. Krzakala, A. Montanari, F. Ricci-Tersenghi, G. Semerjian, and L. Zdeborova, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104, 10318 (2007).
- [57] L. Zdeborová and F. Krzakala, Physical Review B 81, 224205 (2010).
- [58] A. Barrat, R. Burioni, and M. Mézard, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 29, L81 (1996).
- [59] A. Kamenev, Field theory of non-equilibrium systems (Cambridge University Press, 2011).
- [60] J. Zinn-Justin, Quantum field theory and critical phenomena (Oxford, 2002).
- [61] A. Houghton, S. Jain, and A. Young, Physical Review B 28, 2630 (1983).
- [62] S. Franz and S. Spigler, Physical Review E 95, 022139 (2017).
- [63] L. F. Cugliandolo, G. S. Lozano, and N. Nessi, arXiv:1703.10080 (2017).